BOOK NOW, PAY LATER: AN INVESTIGATION OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS, TEMPORAL DISTANCE

AND INCENTIVE TYPES

By

YISAK (ISAAC) JANG

Bachelor of Science in Foodservice Management Kyung Hee University Seoul, South Korea 2010

Master of Science in Hospitality Management Florida International University Miami, Florida 2015

> Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY December, 2020

BOOK NOW, PAY LATER: AN INVESTIGATION OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS, TEMPORAL DISTANCE AND INCENTIVE TYPES

Dissertation Approved:

Dr. Li Miao

Dissertation Adviser

Dr. Chih-Chien Chen

Dr. Yeasun Chung

Dr. Catherin Curtis

Dr. Hyejune Park

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I wish to thank all the people whose assistance was invaluable in helping me reach this milestone in the completion of this dissertation. I would first like to express my deepest appreciation to my committee chair, advisor, and mentor, Dr. Li Miao, for taking me under her wing and patiently guiding me in this journey. I have grown a lot because of her unwavering support. I truly appreciate her knowledgeable guidance and insightful feedback on my dissertation. I feel fortunate to have learned from such a great scholar. This accomplishment would not have been possible without her persistent help.

I would also like to thank my dissertation committee members, Drs. Chen, Chung, Curtis, and Park. Each of them has provided me with extensive professional and personal guidance and taught me a great deal about both research and life in general. I am indebted to Dr. Chih-Chien Chen for her selfless support and professional guidance. I cannot thank her enough for the countless hours spent helping me to get to this point. Dr. Yeasun Chung was the first professor I met in the Hospitality and Tourism Management department, as I had an interview with her in hopes of entering the doctoral program. Since then, she has been such a support and an inspiration throughout my time as a doctoral student. I want to thank Dr. Catherine Curtis, whose expertise was invaluable in formulating the research questions and methodology. Her insightful feedback pushed me to think again about how our research can help the hotel industry and brought my work to a higher level. I would also like to thank Dr. Park for her wonderful support and warm iii Acknowledgements reflect the views of the author and are not endorsed by committee

members or Oklahoma State University.

encouragement. Her sharp insights and useful suggestions helped me improve the quality of my dissertation and enhanced my research skills. Once again, I want to thank everyone for their ideas, advice, and guidance throughout this process.

I also wish to express my very profound gratitude to my wife, HyeJung Chon, and my parents for providing me with unfailing support and continuous encouragement throughout my years of study. Finally, but most importantly, I would like to thank God for His continuous blessings and provisions throughout my life. Nothing can be compared to Your love for me. Thank You.

Name: YISAK (ISAAC) JANG

Date of Degree: DECEMBER, 2020

Title of Study: BOOK NOW, PAY LATER: AN INVESTIGATION OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS, TEMPORAL DISTANCE AND INCENTIVE TYPES

Major Field: BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

Abstract: With competition in the hotel industry getting more intense, many hotel companies are trying hard to provide various booking options for consumers and one of such options is the 'book now, pay later' option. This option allows people to book a hotel instantly without making any payment, and then pay the whole amount for that booking when they check-in at the hotel. Despite the prevalence of this phenomenon, to date, limited research has examined the psychological influence of 'book now, pay later' transactions on consumers. The overall purposes of this dissertation research are (a) to examine how consumers' booking decision-making processes change according to temporal distance (the time of booking) when payments are delayed to the future (i.e., 'book now, pay later' option) without paying a premium (Study 1), and (b) to investigate how temporal distance and incentive types influence consumers' payment preferences and perceived risks when the delayed payments involve paying a premium (Study 2). The results of Study 1 indicate that people who plan to travel in the distant future perceive less risks and have a higher intention to book when they are under the 'pay later' condition than the 'pay now' condition. However, those who plan to travel in the near future exhibit no such differences in perceived risks and purchase intention. Study 2 examines what types of payment options ('pay now' with non-monetary incentive vs. 'pay now' with monetary incentive vs. 'pay later') are preferable when the temporal distance between booking and arrival is relatively near vs. far. The findings suggest that people are more likely to choose the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option (i.e., less costs) when the travel time is in the near future than in the distant future. The results also indicate that people who plan to travel in the distant future perceive significantly higher risks from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option. However, those who plan to travel in the near future exhibit no such differences in perceived risks. The dissertation concludes with theoretical and managerial implications of the research.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

I. INTRODUCTION	1 age
 Background Purposes and Objectives of the Research	1
 Purposes and Objectives of the Research	1
Significance of the Research Expected Theoretical Significance Expected Practical Significance Organization of the Study II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	4
Expected Theoretical Significance Expected Practical Significance Organization of the Study II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	6
Expected Practical Significance Organization of the Study II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	6
Organization of the Study II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	8
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	10
Overview Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	11
 Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect 	11
Perspectives Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	g
Transaction Decoupling Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	11
Hyperbolic Discounting Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	12
Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	14
Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect	16
	19
III. STUDY 1 – EFFECTS OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS AND TEMPORAL DISTANCE: WHEN 'PAY LATER' IS FREE	22
Overview	22
Hypotheses Development	22
The Effects of Delays in Payments	22
The Moderating Role of Temporal Distance	29
Methods	33
Design and Participants	33
Procedure	34
Measures	35
Results	37
Sample Profile	37
Manipulation Check	39
Reliability Test	40
Testing of Hypotheses	40
Discussion	40 41

Chapter

IV.	. STUDY 2: THE EFFECTS OF TEMPORAL DISTANCE AND INCENTIVE TY ON DAYMENT OPTION PREEEDENCES AND REDCEIVED DISKS	PES
	ON PAYMENT OPTION PREFERENCES AND PERCEIVED RISKS	
	Overview	58
	Hypotheses Development	59
	The Effects of Temporal Distance on Payment Choice	59
	The Interaction Effects of Temporal Distance and Payment Options on	
	Perceived Risks	62
	Methods	63
	Design and Participants	63
	Procedure	64
	Measures	65
	Data Analysis Methods	67
	Results	67
	Sample Profile	67
	Manipulation Check	69
	Reliability Test	69
	Testing of Hypotheses	71
	Discussion	80
V.	GENERAL DISCUSSION	83
	Overview	83
	Summary of Findings	83
	Theoretical Contributions	85
	Managerial Contributions	88
	Limitations	91
	Recommendations for Future Research	93
RE	FERENCES	96
AP	PPENDICES	.106

LIST OF TABLES

Table

Page

1 Number of Observations per Cell	.38
2 Demographic Profile of the Respondents (N = 180)	.38
3 Measurement Scale Items, Means, Standard Deviations, and Reliability	.40
4 ANCOVA Results of Perceived Price	.42
5 Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Perceived Price	.43
6 ANCOVA Results of Purchase Intention	.44
7 Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Purchase Intention.	.45
8 Pairwise Comparisons of Purchase Intention	.45
9 ANCOVA Results of Perceived Financial Risk	.47
10 Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of	
Perceived Financial Risk	.48
11 Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Financial Risk	.48
12 ANCOVA Results of Perceived Psychological Risk	.50
13 Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of	
Perceived Financial Risk	.51
14 Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Psychological Risk	.51
15 ANCOVA Results of Perceived Time Risk	.53
16 Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of	
Perceived Time Risk	.54
17 Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Time Risk	.54
18 Demographic Profile of the Respondents (N = 144)	.68
19 Measurement Scale Items, Means, Standard Deviations, and Reliability	.70
20 Payment Choice Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance	.71
21 Payment Choice (Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive vs. Non-Pay Now with Non-	-
monetary Incentive) Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance	.72
22 Payment Choice (Pay Now with Monetary Incentive vs. Non-Pay Now with Monetary	
Incentive) Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance	.73
23 Payment Choice (Pay Later vs. Non-Pay Later) Cross-tabulated with	
Temporal Distance	.74
24 Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Finical Risk by Payment Options and	
Temporal Distance Group	.75

Table

25 Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Psychological Risk by Payment Optio	ns
and Temporal Distance Group	77
26 Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Time Risk by Payment Options and	
Temporal Distance Group	79

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure

Page

2 Conceptual Framework of Study 1: The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal
Distance on Perceived Price, Perceived Risk, and Purchase Intention
3 Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on
Purchase Intention
4 Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on
Perceived Financial Risk
5 Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on
Perceived Psychological Risk
6 Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on
Perceived Time Risk
7 Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived
Financial Risk
8 Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived
Psychological Risk
9 Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived
Time Risk

CHAPTER I

INTRODUCTION

Background

When people book a hotel room, they usually are in a dilemma: "Should I book now or wait until later to get better deals?" Booking now means they will not have a chance to get potential future discounts, but they will have a hotel room ready for them with peace of mind (without sell-out risks) and they may not have to spend more time and energy searching for alternative options. This hotel booking environment, along with dynamic hotel pricing strategies, requires people to decide when to book. More importantly, there is another choice related to time in the hotel booking situation - 'when to pay.' With more intense competition in the hotel industry, service providers are trying hard to provide various booking options for consumers, and they regard these options as the key differentiation factors to win out the competition. One of such options is the 'book now, pay later' option. Through this option, consumers can delay their payment to the future. Although some luxury hotels may ask a guest to make an advance deposit to guarantee a reservation and the full amount is applied to the guest's bill upon checkout (TripSavvy, 2020), most of the 'book now, pay later' hotels allow consumers to delay their whole amount until check-in. Given the COVID-19 crisis situation, consumers

look for more flexible, economical, and versatile ways to pay, especially online, and as a result, 'buy now, pay later' services have accelerated in popularity (Fortune, 2020). According to TripAdvisor's internal research (2019), the 'book now, pay later' option results in a greater likelihood of a conversion to confirm their booking in advance. The TripAdvisor survey showed consumers would choose to book something in advance, but they would not have chosen to reserve it and pay in advance. Moreover, 62% of participants indicated that flexibility was the major reason for their interest in the 'book now, pay later' option. This option does not only confer benefits on consumers but service providers as well by offering the consumers what they want (i.e., flexibility); service providers are ultimately able to expect more early bookings in situations where the consumers otherwise would have put off and waited, possibly not returning to the room listing (TripAdvisor, 2019). However, this option is not without problems if implemented without careful consideration. For instance, no financial commitment can lead to no-shows and last-minute cancellations and this directly affects hotels' profit margins and is a major challenge (Hotel Online, 2018). To address this issue, some service providers charge a premium for the 'pay later' option or give an incentive for the 'pay now' option, but how this strategy affects consumers' payment preferences and perceptions according to their time of booking remains unknown.

To what extent is it worth offering the 'pay later' option to consumers? There have been multiple theoretical approaches to exploring various aspects of the nature and function of 'pay later' (delays in payments). According to hyperbolic discounting, the way people perceive time is not rational (Crompton, 2016), and therefore they consider near-term and future-term events in a different way. For example, as points in time are moved into the future, people consider them simply as far-off points on a vague horizon. As such, the way

2

an event is perceived is not rational, and it makes people rank near-term and long-term events very differently. When payment is pushed into the future (i.e., book now, pay later), a purchase decision may receive lower weight. To understand the '*buy* now, pay later' transaction of *retail products*, Prelec and Loewenstein (1998) and Siemens (2007) showed a decoupling effect (transaction decoupling) that happens when consumption benefits precede costs. Decoupling is when the two parts of a process are separated. Such approaches, however, are limited in explaining the '*book* now, pay later' transaction in the online *hotel booking* setting because unlike the decoupling effect for retail products, consumption benefits are coupled with payments, rather than precede payments, in the 'book now, pay later' situation.

More importantly, the extant literature has not taken into account different types of 'pay later' that could potentially require different theoretical explanations because some 'pay later' situations require paying a premium (fee). Research on inter-temporal choice ("should I choose it now or later?") provides an important theoretical foundation to analyze people's decision-making when the outcomes are different depending on time (smaller-sooner versus larger-later rewards). However, inter-temporal choice involves not only gain options (e.g., rewards) but also is related to losses (e.g. costs for hotel rooms). The majority of previous studies on inter-temporal choice overlooked this aspect and mainly focused on hypothetical situations regarding gains (e.g., getting money). Also, the existing studies traditionally have two choice options (e.g., \$100 today vs. \$110 in a month) using the same type of reward (i.e., monetary rewards), but they did not take account of situations where people have more than two choice options with different types of outcomes (e.g., paying \$100 vs. \$ 110 with free gift). This dissertation research, therefore, serves to fill the important gaps in the literature

by not only providing the empirical investigation of choices over time (i.e., pay now vs. pay later), but also investigating both two types of incentive types (i.e., non-monetary vs. monetary incentive) in the context of hotel booking. In summary, to understand and answer these hospitality industry's trending issues, this dissertation research investigates why and how delays in payments (i.e., pay later) and incentive types influence consumers' perceptions based on the time of booking.

Purposes and Objectives of the Research

The overall purposes of this dissertation research are (a) to examine how consumers' booking decision-making processes change according to temporal distance (the time of booking) when payments are delayed to the future without paying a premium (Study 1), and (b) to investigate how temporal distance and incentive types influence consumers' payment preferences and perceived risks when the delayed payments involve paying a premium (Study 2). In the first study, the study examines the first type of delays in payments (i.e., book now, pay later *without* paying a premium). The first study posits that people consider delays in costs (payments) as gains, while delays in benefits are considered as losses. If price payment is pushed into the future, a purchase decision receives less weight. When faced with the 'book now, pay later' option, consumers might be either in the last-minute booking situations (e.g., same-day booking or booking a noom six months before arrival). People who are in the latter situation may place greater value on the 'book now, pay later' option. Thus, different consumers may perceive the option differently based on their situations. The study

proposes that when temporally far from the date of arrival, online hotel bookers who have the free 'book now, pay later' option feel less burdened by payments and risks, and in turn, have higher intention to book. Specifically, the objective of the first study is twofold: first, the study examines whether delays in payments influence consumers' perceived price and risks, and purchase intention; second, the study investigates whether temporal distance influences such relationships.

The second study examines another type of delays in payments (i.e., book now, pay later with a higher price) and incentive types. Unlike the first type of delays in payments without paying a premium, when facing delays in payments with a higher price as an option, people would be in a financial dilemma because it is an inter-temporal choice situation ("should I choose it now or later?"), which requires people to trade-off benefits (i.e., delaying payments or getting an incentive) and costs (i.e., paying a premium or taking a nonrefundable risk) over time. Traditionally, inter-temporal choice studies have mainly dealt with current small rewards versus future large rewards, not losses (Hardisty et al., 2013). However, Study 2 explains how people react to now-smaller losses (i.e., pay now with monetary or non-monetary incentive) versus later-larger losses (i.e., pay later) and how they perceive different types of incentives over time. Thus, Study 2 attempts to examine what types of payment options ('pay now' with non-monetary incentive vs. 'pay now' with monetary incentive vs. 'pay later') are preferable when the temporal distance between booking and arrival is relatively near vs. far by applying construal level theory. Also, this study investigates how the payment options and temporal distance jointly influence consumers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks. To summarize, the primary

5

objective of the second study is to examine the joint impacts of temporal distance and incentive types on consumers' payment preferences and perceived risks.

Significance of the Research

Expected Theoretical Significance

The present dissertation research is expected to extend the hospitality and marketing literature in several theoretically meaningful ways. First, this dissertation is expected to contribute to the previous literature of delays in payments. Prior research mainly focused on the cost and behavioral aspects of the delays in payments. This dissertation research was to extend the scope of the study by examining the perceived risks well. In the case of ordinary retail products, the decoupling effect (e.g., buy now, pay later) happens when consumption benefits temporally precedes transaction costs (Siemens, 2007). While diverse forms of this transaction decoupling (decoupling effect) have been widely studied in general retailing settings, such as liquor stores and supermarkets, this approach has limits in analyzing the 'book now, pay later' transaction because of the nature of the hotel industry. For example, consumers' perceived risks from the 'pay now' or 'pay later' transaction may vary depending on their temporal distance between the time of booking and arrival. By investigating into this dynamic 'book now, pay later' transaction, this dissertation will provide an understanding of how delays in payments influence online hotel bookers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks.

Second, this dissertation research is expected to extend transaction de-coupling (i.e., buy now, pay later) literature by examining situations where delays in payments require a premium (i.e., higher price) in the online hotel booking setting. The majority of the previous studies on transaction de-coupling have mainly focused on the delays in payments which do not require any fees for 'pay later' (e.g., Siemens, 2007; Gourville & Soman, 1998). While in many cases, service providers either charge a premium for 'pay later' or give an incentive for 'pay now', an empirical investigation into how people react in these situations is lacking. The current dissertation research attempts to fill this gap by examining the 'pay later' situations that require a higher cost for delaying costs (i.e., paying a premium). In addition, this dissertation research is expected to represent a critical step toward understanding how people perceive 'pay later' with a premium according to their time of booking.

Finally, this dissertation is expected to contribute to the construal level theory (CLT) literature by investigating incentive types in the online hotel booking context. To date, numerous studies have examined the moderating role of temporal distance using construal level theory as a theoretical basis. However, little CLT research has investigated how temporal distance moderates the effects of incentive types on consumers' preferences and perceived risks in spite of the fact that consumers often encounter and consider incentive types and temporal distance simultaneously. For example, consumers may evaluate a hotel room offer by considering an incentive type (i.e., non-monetary incentive vs. monetary incentive) and the time of booking (i.e., early booking vs. late booking) at the same time, which may have matching effects (i.e., when people encounter a message that is matched with their mental representational state, the persuasive effects of the message will be enhanced) on the consumer. Thus, this dissertation research attempts to provide a better understanding of what motivates consumers to prefer a certain type of incentives and why

7

their preferences for certain incentive types may change based on the temporal distance between the time of booking and arrival.

Expected Practical Significance

There are several expected practical implications of this dissertation research. First, this dissertation can guide hotel providers on how they can effectively use the 'book now, pay later' option. By providing empirical evidence for the moderating role of temporal distance, this dissertation will help hotel marketers better assess how much the 'book now, pay later without a premium' option is worth to a consumer's perceived price and booking decisions over time. This research suggests that when the date of arrival is in the near future, the 'pay later' option may not lead to lower perceived price nor higher booking intention. If the difference between 'pay now' and 'pay later' is not significant under these situations (e.g., last-minute bookings), it would be better for service providers who offer the free 'pay later' option regardless of a customer's booking time to consider not doing so. In this context, hotel marketers should not overuse the free 'book now, pay later' option in order to lock in their customers. In contrast, under the circumstances in which temporal distance is relatively long, service providers may provide the 'pay later' option for free instead of an illconceived price discount in order to encourage advance booking and ensure its profitability. This can be done if they recognize the dynamic value of the 'pay later' option, depending on the time of booking.

Second, this dissertation research is expected to provide helpful suggestions on the use of incentives for the 'pay now' option. Possible guidance for service providers could be that if the arrival date is temporally near, they may offer monetary incentives to encourage

8

consumers to choose the 'pay now' option. On the contrary, if the arrival date is temporally far, service providers may provide non-monetary incentives instead of monetary incentives to promote the 'pay now' option. In doing so, service providers may have a better profit margin on the 'pay now' option because the actual net costs of non-monetary incentives (e.g., free upgrade or free gift) are substantially less than the prices consumers pay for those services or products.

Lastly, this dissertation research will help service providers better understand consumers' perceived risks from each payment option according to the time of booking. A possible lesson from this research is that when booking, consumers may perceive even less risks from the 'pay later' option in the 'distant future' condition (e.g., six months before arrival) than the 'near future' condition (e.g., one week before arrival) although the greater temporal distance from the date of arrival intensifies consumers' perceived risks. When the arrival date is temporally far, marketers may place an emphasis on the psychological aspects of the 'pay later' option (e.g., peace of mind) in order to encourage consumers to make advance bookings because the greater temporal distance consumers have, the less risks (the more benefits) they may perceive from the 'pay later' option. However, this research anticipates that either the two types of incentives for the 'pay now' option do not decrease consumers' perceived risks. Therefore, this dissertation is expected to suggest that incentives for the 'pay now' option may not necessarily influence consumers' purchase intentions if traveling time is in the relatively distant future.

Organization of the Study

This dissertation is organized as follows: Chapter one provides an introduction to the study. It contains a brief overview of the study and the purposes and objectives of this dissertation. In addition, both theoretical and practical significance of the study is discussed. In chapter two, an overarching review of related literature is provided to better understand the main theoretical background of this dissertation. In chapter three, Study 1 examines how delays in payments without a premium and temporal distance jointly affect perceived price and risks, and purchase intention. In chapter four, Study 2 investigates how temporal distance and incentive types influence consumers' payment option preferences and perceived risks when paying a higher price for a delayed payment option. Both chapters three and four, a brief review of the conceptual background for each concept, the proposed research hypotheses, the conceptual frameworks are presented. Also, these chapters present the methods and the results of each study including sample, research design, measurement, and data analysis methods. Finally, chapter five includes discussions about the findings of this dissertation and the managerial and theoretical implications of the findings. Also, the chapter concludes with limitations and recommendations for future research.

CHAPTER II

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

Overview

The objective of this chapter is to provide the overarching theoretical backgrounds of the frameworks of the current dissertation research. There are three sections in this chapter. In the first section, this research introduces delays in payments as a main theoretical base. Also, the notions of transaction decoupling and hyperbolic discounting are provided to explain the concept of delays in payments. The second section provides a review of literature in temporal distance and construal level theory and how these concepts apply to the current research as another main theoretical foundation. Finally, the third section presents the concept of incentive types and how this concept interacts with temporal distance.

Delays in Payments from Transaction Decoupling and Hyperbolic Discounting Perspectives

The 'pay later' transaction can be conceptualized as delays in payments. There are two theoretical perspectives for the notion of delays in payment: 'transaction decoupling' and 'hyperbolic discounting'. Although they come from different disciplines, both concepts explain what happens when payments or costs are delayed.

Transaction Decoupling

The first theoretical basis for delays in payments (i.e., 'book now, pay later' transactions) draws on the concept of "transaction decoupling". This concept is closely related to the notion of delays in payments because it explains what happens when the cost of the transaction is deferred in a retail setting. Coupling has been defined as the psychological link between the benefits and the payment related to the consumption of goods (Prelec & Loewenstein, 1998), and decoupling happens in situations when the two parts of a process are separated. There are two possible cases where temporal separation of transaction costs and benefits might take place (Simens, 2007). First, there could be an occasion when a consumer would pay for a product temporally before consumption (e.g., paying now and consuming later). According to Gourville and Soman (1998), in this case, where payment occurs prior to the benefit in a transaction, people pay more attention to sunk costs, which mean the costs that have been incurred and cannot be recovered.

A second case is when transaction benefits temporally precede transaction costs. For example, a consumer might receive a product prior to actually paying for it (e.g., buy now, pay later). Although prior studies have focused on the implications of the first possible case of transaction decoupling (i.e., paying now and consuming later), the current dissertation research examines the second possible case of transaction decoupling by applying the instance of 'book now, pay later' transactions. Previous studies found that the decoupling of transaction benefits and costs (i.e., buy now, pay later) leads to a significant change in the psychological representation of these transactions (Gourville & Soman, 1998; Prelec & Loewenstein, 1998; Soman & Gourville, 2001). According to Prelec and Loewenstein (1998), and Soman and Gourville (2001), when a payment is decoupled (i.e. 'buy now, pay later') from the consumption of a benefit (i.e., situations when the benefit temporally precedes the payment), the sunk cost influence of the payment on the purchase decision is decreased. Prelec and Loewenstein (1998) also found that transaction decoupling or decoupling effect leads to electronic payment (i.e., paying with a credit card) because this allows for the payment and the benefit to become separated in the consumer's mind. Therefore, the electronic payment methods do not have enough vividness and transparency, and the actual cost of the transaction becomes obscured. For this reason, payment by cash is more painful than payment by credit cards.

The current dissertation search proposes that the same principle applies to the hotel booking situations. When a hotel offers the 'book now, pay later' option, hotel bookers may recognize that the cost of the transaction is deferred, thus, 'pay later' is less vivid than 'pay now'. Therefore, if people pay the hotel room price on the date of arrival (i.e., 'book now, pay later at the property'; no time-delay between costs and benefits), they will be more satisfied based on this notion. One major difference between the transaction decoupling (i.e., *buy* now, pay later) and the '*book* now, pay later' transaction is that, unlike the transaction decoupling in retail products, consumption benefits are coupled with payments, rather than precede payments (decoupled), in the 'book now, pay later' situation. These deferred payment plans (i.e., book now, pay later) are an important

part of recent hospitality and tourism consumer and marketing transactions. Despite the prevalence of this phenomenon, until now, limited research has examined the psychological influence of 'book now, pay later' transactions on consumers. This lack of research may be attributed to the fact that some psychological factors that could impact consumers' hotel booking decision-making process still have not been identified and measured. To expand the existing literature on transaction decoupling of retail products, this study attempts to demonstrate how the 'book now, pay later' transaction (coupled) influences the customer booking decision-making process in the online hotel booking setting.

Hyperbolic Discounting

Another approach to explaining the 'pay later' transaction is hyperbolic discounting (Ainslie, 2001; Samuelson, 1937) from an economic perspective. Hyperbolic discounting is a time-inconsistent model of delay discounting, and it is one of the cornerstones of behavioral economics (Ainslie, 2016). Figure 1 shows the hyperbolic discounting phenomenon. At the time a good or a service is purchased, the perceived benefit (or cost) is very high. The traditional exponential curve shows the rate of decay over a 12-month period to be constant. On the other hand, the hyperbolic curve shows the perceived benefit (or cost) decays drastically in the first three months and remains more or less constant after that period. According to the hyperbolic discounting, if a price payment is pushed into the future, a purchase decision receives less weight. Ainslie (2001, p. 47) demonstrated "there is substantial evidence that both people and lower animals spontaneously value future events in inverse proportion to their expected delays". The most important characteristic of hyperbolic discounting is that it leads people to rank near-term and long-term events quite differently. Therefore, the farther into the future that the price payment is deferred, the less people weigh a purchase decision.

Figure 1

Comparison of exponential and hyperbolic decay curves (Source: Crompton, 2016)



A possible example of this phenomenon in the hotel booking context is that if people can delay their payment for a hotel room for three months, they may perceive the cost *significantly* less compared to the cost calculated by a normal discount rate. In prospect theory (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979) terms, delays in costs (payments) are considered as gains, while delays in benefits (price discounts) are considered as losses. This current dissertation research posits that the value of delayed payments depends on how long people can postpone a payment to the future. That is, although people perceive delays in payments as gains, they may devalue the 'book now, pay later' option when their temporal distance between the time of booking and the date of arrival is relatively short. Therefore, delays in payments and temporal distance are inextricably linked and should be considered *together*.

Temporal Distance from Construal Level Theory Perspective

Time is one of the most important dimensions that affects a wide range of human behavior (Carstensen, 2006). Due to its importance and relevance to our daily lives, time has received much attention from researchers across multiple disciplines and from different perspectives. In the same manner, time has an important role in the hospitality and tourism industry because both customers and hotels make bookings and pricing decisions based on time (Chen & Schwartz, 2008). This time in the hospitality and tourism context can be conceptualized as temporal distance. Temporal distance is defined as "how much time (e.g., near future or distant future) separates between the perceiver's present time and the target event" (Bar-Anan, Liberman, & Trope, 2006, p. 609), and it is one kind of psychological distance, which refers to "a subjective experience that something is close or far away from the self, here, and now" (Trope & Liberman, 2010, p. 440).

Construal level theory (CLT) posits that the psychological distance, including temporal distance, influences the evaluation and choice of future events, objects, and tasks by changing the way people mentally construe them (Trope & Liberman, 2010; Trope et al., 2007). Psychological distance was originally explained by temporal distance (present vs. past/future), then it was extended to social (self vs. other), geographical (close vs. far), and hypothetical (certain vs. probable) distance (Trope & Liberman,

16

2010). According to construal level theory, temporal distance changes individual representations of the events by affecting how people construe them in their minds. People perceive situations differently in the continuum of construal from high to low levels. Specifically, distant future events, that is, those that feel far away in terms of time, are construed on a higher level (i.e., using more abstract and central features) because distant events depend upon generalized processing schemas. In contrast, near future events, which feel imminent or impending in terms of time, are construed on a lower level (i.e., using more concrete and detailed features) because near events relate to specific details (Trope & Liberman, 2003). For instance, in situations where people may select a lecture to attend, in the distant temporal condition (plans on taking a lecture in the distant future), people put more weight on the interest value of the lecture whereas in the near temporal condition (plans on taking a lecture in the near future), they place greater value on the convenience of timing (Liberman & Trope, 1998). In this way, perception about distant future events is more likely to be based on relatively core and abstract features of events, whereas perception about near future events is likely to be based on more peripheral and concrete features of events.

Besides, high-level construals are that people highlight *why* they need to pursue certain actions for the events, as well as the superordinate goals of the events; however, low-level construals are that people focus on *how* to achieve the events, as well as the subordinate aspects of the events (Trope et al., 2007). For example, Vallacher and Wegner (2014) examined the impact of time on action identification. They found that a long time in advance, people represented their wedding in high-level terms, such as "expressing love," whereas on the day of the wedding they expressed their wedding in

lower-level terms, such as "having pictures made." According to Liberman and Trope (1998), in goal-directed activities, desirability of the activity's end state means a highlevel construal, whereas the feasibility of reaching this end state means a low-level construal. Considering this characterization, construal level theory predicts that the influence of desirability considerations, relative to the influence of feasibility considerations, relative to the influence of feasibility considerations. Accordingly, the interpretation of events will change with different temporal distances (Liberman &Trope, 2003).

Applying these notions to the hotel booking context, advance booking (i.e., earlybird booking) corresponds to distant future situations and late booking (e.g., last-minute booking) is applicable to near future situations, and this time of booking (temporal distance from the date of arrival) influences customers' booking decision-making process. The terms "near future" and "distant future" may have subjective meanings but most of the CLT studies have used the same or similar terms (e.g., near vs. far future – Kim et al., 2016; Teng & Chang, 2014) for temporal distance because the original theory by Liberman and Trope (1998) used the term "near and distant future". There are several studies that have examined the impact of temporal distance on consumers' decisionmakings in the hospitality and tourism setting (Chen & Schwartz, 2008; Kim et al., 2016; Kim, Kim, & Kim, 2018). For example, Kim et al. (2018) examined the impact of temporal distance (2-level: near future vs. distant future) on leisure travelers' evaluation of abstract/concrete hotel attributes and further investigated whether gender moderates the influence of temporal distance based on the construal level theory (Liberman & Trope, 1998; Trope & Liberman, 2010). Also, Kim et al. (2016) investigated the

18

influence of temporal (3-level: near future vs. middle future vs. far future) and spatial distance on the assessment of abstract/concrete promotional messages. Chen and Schwartz (2008) empirically tested how and why customers' propensity to book changes over time, and the results of their study underscored the importance of the time element in customers' hotel booking decisions. Although numerous previous studies have investigated the effects of temporal distance in the hospitality and tourism context, no empirical research has been conducted on how temporal distance interacts with delays in payments (i.e., pay later). In addition, how temporal distance moderates the effect of incentive types, which is discussed in the next section, is still unknown. This research attempts to fill these gaps by providing empirical evidence of the relationships of those factors. In the following section, the research introduces incentive types as a situational factor that jointly affects consumers' perceptions and behaviors with temporal distance.

Types of Incentive and Construal Matching Effect

Marketers frequently use incentives to boost their sales and influence consumers' purchase decisions (Shi, Cheung, & Prendergast, 2005). Incentives can be divided into two types: non-monetary and monetary incentives (Hanley et al., 2006). In the hotel and tourism context, monetary incentives include price discounts on rooms and travel products, or providing a small amount of cash or a gift card for spending during the tour. Non-monetary incentives can include free upgrades, free gifts, and complimentary meals offered by service providers to entice people to book hospitality products (Chou & Lien, 2012). There were several studies that examined which incentive types generate better

effects (Kung & Huang, 2008; Weisstein, Monroe, & Kukar-Kinney, 2013; Wolfe & Loraas, 2008) but there has been no consistent conclusion.

Consumers may perceive different incentive types differently in terms of gains vs. losses (Campbell & Diamond, 1990). When incentives are represented in non-monetary form, non-monetary incentives (e.g., free upgrade) are more often regarded as separate gains because the benefits will be difficult to factor into the price. Non-monetary incentives can also be regarded as high-level construed messages because they place the emphasis on 'gains' (more for the same – obtaining more benefits for the same price), which indicate the desirability of an event's outcome (Chou & Lien, 2012). Desirability refers to the value of an event's outcome and indicates 'why' aspects of an event, therefore constituting high-level construals (Trope & Liberman, 2003). On the other hand, when incentives are in monetary form, monetary incentive (e.g., discount) can be easily integrated with price, and therefore the outcome can be considered as a reduced loss/cost (Chou & Lien, 2012). Monetary incentives can also be regarded as low-level construed messages because they place the emphasis on 'costs' (the same for less spending less money purchasing a service/product that offers equal benefits), which indicate the feasibility of an event's outcome. Feasibility refers to the ease or difficulty of reaching the event outcome and indicates 'how' aspects of an event, constituting lowlevel construals (Trope & Liberman, 2003).

According to Kim, Rao, and Lee (2009), the matching or mismatching between people's mental representation of the event (i.e., high or low-level mental construals) and the construed level of the message (i.e., abstract or concrete) affects people's evaluation of the message. When people encounter a message that is matched with their mental representational state, the persuasive effects of the message will be enhanced. Conversely, when people encounter a message that is not matched with their mental representational state, they will perceive the message as being less fluent and give it less weight. There are two reasons why the persuasive effects of the message tend to be enhanced when people face a message that is consistent with their mental representational state. (a) People with matching tend to experience a feeling of ease or fluency of understanding, which leads to a sense of 'feeling right' (Reber et al., 2004). In this case, people will yield a more positive evaluation of the message because they may falsely attribute their 'feeling right' experience to the message itself and believe that such experience comes from a better quality message (Kim et al., 2009). (b) People perceive that matching messages are more helpful when making a decision (Martin et al., 2009). A match will also prompt people to put more weight on the message (Pretty & Wegener, 1998), which will strengthen the effect of the message. As a result, people will pay less attention to it, which will attenuate the persuasiveness and preference of the message. This research predicts that the matching of incentive type (non-monetary vs. monetary) with construal level (short vs. long temporal distance) facilitates the cognitive process and enhances persuasion and preference.

CHAPTER III

STUDY 1 – EFFECTS OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS AND TEMPORAL DISTANCE: WHEN 'PAY LATER' IS FREE

Overview

In this chapter, the hypotheses development, methods, and results of Study 1 are presented. First, the chapter presents hypotheses development with a review of the literature. Next, the chapter describes the experimental design of the study. Then, this chapter proceeds to provide the results of the statistical analyses. Finally, this chapter includes discussions about the findings of this study.

Hypotheses Development

The Effects of Delays in Payments

The Effects of Delays in Payments on Perceived Price and Purchase Intention

As previously mentioned in the discussions of transaction decoupling and hyperbolic discounting, people can differ in the costs they perceive from their purchases when the costs are deferred to the future. These perceived costs can be understood by the concept of perceived price in a consumer purchase context. Perceived price is defined

as customers' relative evaluation of price, and it is used to capture consumers' evaluation of price (Chiang & Jang, 2007). Perceived price can also be described as "the customer's judgment about a service's average price in comparison to its competitors" (Chen, Gupta, & Rom, 1994, p. 25). Perceived price is important because price has been considered one of the most significant components in explaining customer behaviors (Keaveney, 1995), and price is a key factor in understanding and predicting consumer behaviors. Previous studies have shown that perceived price is a critical determinant of consumers' purchase behaviors and highlighted the importance of perceived value, which is closely related to perceived price, in explaining consumer behaviors. However, limited empirical work has examined the impact of perceived price on consumer behaviors in the service industry. Ryu and Han (2010) investigated the moderating effect of perceived price in the relationship between three dimensions of quality (i.e., quality of food, service, and physical environment) and customer satisfaction in a restaurant setting. Chiang and Jang (2007) examined the impacts of perceived price and brand image on perceived quality, trust, perceived value, and travelers' purchase intentions for online hotel booking. The results of their study showed that when customers perceive that a price offered by a hotel is more reasonable than their internal reference price or competing prices at other hotels, they tend to perceive higher quality and higher consumer value, and are more likely to have greater purchase intention. While these previous studies examined the impacts of perceived price, they did not consider the factors such as delays in payments as which may affect consumers' perceived price in the service industry setting. In the current study, perceived price is examined by applying the concepts of delays in payments to see how customers' perception on price changes when a payment is delayed to the future.

23

As discussed in the literature review section, according to hyperbolic discounting (Ainslie, 2001), as a payment is pushed into the future, people perceive less costs. Therefore, their purchase decisions receive less consideration. Similarly, Prelec and Loewenstein (1998) showed that decoupling effect (transaction decoupling) leads to an electronic payment such as credit card instead of cash because people may be able to defer their actual cash payment by the electronic payment methods: the delayed payment induces a perceived reduction in price because the actual cost of the transaction is obscured. Thus, payment by cash (pay now) is perceived as more painful than payment by credit cards (pay later). Based on these evidences, this study proposes that when a hotel offers the 'book now, pay later' option, hotel bookers may perceive less costs because delayed payments (pay later) are less vivid and painful than 'pay now'. Thus, it is proposed:

H1: Perceived price differs by the time of payment such that perceived price is lower when customers are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition.

The best predictor for anticipating actual behavior is the intention of a person to execute the behavior (Fishbein & Ajzen, 1975). Purchase intention refers to one's personal forecast regarding the possibility of future behavior; or the transaction behavior that consumers tend to perform after assessing a product; or the purchase possibility based on the consumer's response to a product (Schiffman & Kanuk, 2000; Spears & Singh, 2004). Purchase intention has gained significant research interest as a stable construct to predict buying behavior (Anderson & Srinivasan, 2003; Armstrong & Kotler, 2003; Chen & Dubinsky, 2003; Cronin et al., 2000; Oh & Xu, 2003; Pura, 2005). Also, purchase intention has served as a dependent measure in numerous research studies in defect of actual behavioral data (Manski, 1990). Morwitz and Schmittlein (1992) considered purchase intention as the most valuable item of a marketer's prediction of purchase behavior within the marketing research field. Armstrong and Kotler (2003) also showed that purchase intention is the key indicator utilized in forecasting consumer behavior. For this reason, when a company is trying to draw or keep customers, understanding their purchase intention serves as a major factor (Thang, 2008). As discussed above, when a price payment is scheduled for the future, the decision to purchase seems less burdensome. Also, delayed payments are considered as gains. Hence, based on these evidences, the following hypothesis is proposed:

H2: Purchase intention differs by the time of payment such that purchase intention is greater when customers are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition.

The Effects of Delays in Payments on Perceived Risks

Risk is composed of the size of potential loss (or the subjective possibility of loss) if the outcomes of an event are not favorable and the individual's subjective feelings of certainty that the result will be unpleasant (Lee, 2009). Dowling and Staelin (1994) defined perceived risk as consumers' perceptions of the uncertainty and negative outcomes of purchasing a product or service. Although several theoretical refinements to the definition of risk have been attempted, risk remains a subjectively determined expectation of loss by consumers, referring to perceived risk (Cunningham et al., 2005). The notion of perceived risk has been used to explain consumer behavior since the 1960s. Early research (Cunningham, 1967) suggested that risk includes two dimensions: uncertainty and consequences. He classified six types of perceived risk: financial, performance, physical, psychological, social, and time/opportunity. Jacoby and Kaplan (1972) identified five facets of perceived risk: financial risk, performance risk, social risk, physical risk, and psychological risk. Following these, Featherman and Pavlou (2003) proposed a comprehensive model of perceived facets of risk, comprising financial, performance, psychological, social, time, privacy, and overall risks.

As discussed above, most of the scholars claimed that consumers' perceived risk is multifaceted, with various negative outcomes (e.g., financial, performance, social, and psychological loss) of a purchase decision. Dowling (1986) pointed out that different types of negative consequences fit different types of purchases. Park and Tussyadiah (2017) also suggested that perceived risk depends on the situation. In other words, the types of risk need to be identified with consideration of a specific situation encountered by an individual. In the case of travel products such as hotels, flights, packages, or car rental, compared to ordinary retail products, they involve higher levels of risk taking because certain situations could inevitably occur where potential travelers have to change or cancel their tourism products (Fram & McCarthy, 1999). Travel companies charge customer penalties for two reasons: (1) suffer an irrevocable revenue loss due to the nature of travel products, and (2) incur considerable unnecessary transaction costs (Fram & McCarthy, 1999). Likewise, hotel booking and penalty risk are inextricably linked
because of the nature of travel products. However, to date, little research has investigated the perceived financial penalty risk in the hotel booking context. Park and Tussyadiah (2017) examined perceived risk in mobile travel booking and identified the seven facets of perceived risk (time risk, financial risk, performance risk, privacy/security risk, psychological risk, physical risk, and device risk). However, they did not consider penalty risk in the context of booking. Thus, this study suggests that perceived financial penalty risk is pertinent to consumers' purchase decisions in relation to perishable service products such as hotel rooms. This study intends to fill the gap in the literature on perceived risk by examining the perceived financial risk in hotel booking situations. As booking a room online is an inherently risky process and that risk involves financial (monetary) penalty, customers may feel apprehension or anxiety when they make a reservation. Thus, this study recognized this psychological loss as a risk type related to hotel bookings that discourages hotel bookers from paying now. In an e-commerce setting, psychological risk refers to the inability of a customer to see the results of purchasing products, and includes the lack of testability of a product that results in customers' apprehension and anxiety while shopping (Park et al., 2004). In the context of mobile travel booking, Park and Tussyadiah (2017, p. 856) defined psychological risk as "the risk that the selection of mobile services to purchase a travel product will have a negative influence on a traveler's peace of mind or self-perception". Also, as costs precede benefits (i.e., prepayments with free cancellation) in online hotel booking contexts, consumers may spend some time to get the money already pre-paid refunded when unexpected situations happen before their arrival. Even though time is a nonmonetary effort and varies from person to person, this study recognizes time as a cost that consumers pay for hotel rooms, and identifies time loss as an additional risk type associated with hotel bookings. The time risk is defined as "the potential harm of losing time due to a wrong purchase decision and time to search for products and purchase" (Biucky et al., 2017, p.184). To sum up, this study identifies three types of perceived risks in hotel bookings as follows: financial penalty loss, psychological loss and time loss.

One of the advantages of the 'book now, pay later' option is that it inherently provides a free cancelation (no penalty risk) aspect because the option allows people not to pay until arrival. A few research operationalized and empirically assessed the impact of free cancelation in the hotel booking context. Chen, Schwartz, and Vargas (2011) investigated cancellation policies and their influence on shaping people's deal-seeking behavior. They also explored the impact of cancellation fees and deadlines on hotel booking decision making. The findings of their study indicated that the hotel cancellation deadline influenced people's behavior although the size of the cancellation fee had no statistically significant impact. The current research represents a critical step toward exploring the impact of free cancelations as part of the 'book now, pay later' option on customers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks factors. This study proposes that because delays in payments (i.e., the 'book now, pay later' option) do not require a financial commitment until consumers receive the benefits from their purchase, this option reduces customers' perceived financial and psychological risks. Thus, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H3a: Perceived financial risk differs by the time of payment such that perceived financial risk is lower when customers are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition.

H3b: Perceived psychological risk differs by the time of payment such that perceived psychological risk is lower when customers are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition.

H3c: Perceived time risk differs by the time of payment such that perceived time risk is lower when customers are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition.

The Moderating Role of Temporal Distance

The Interaction Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Price and with Purchase Intention

Time of booking (temporal distance from the date of arrival) is related to customers' booking decision-making process. Chen and Schwartz (2008) empirically tested how and why customers' propensity to book changes over time and the results of their study underscored the importance of the time element in customers' hotel booking decisions. From a different point of view, this study proposes that people's perceptions of room costs (losses) can also be affected by time. Applying the notion of temporal distance to the context of delays in payments, this study puts forward that temporal distance influences consumers' perceived price. In the case of losses (i.e., payments),

when there was a time-delay, people were more likely to prefer a long delay than a short delay (Siemens, 2007). Since delays in payments are considered as gains, the more delays (the longer temporal distance) in payments, the more benefits (the lower perceived price) one perceives. People usually discount future consequences due to the general tendency of wanting immediate gains and avoiding losses. Generally, as the outcome is delayed further into the future, it is discounted more. It can also be explained by the notion of opportunity cost (Hardisty et al, 2013). For example, an individual may defer a \$200 payment for one year. If he or she makes the investment now, it may become more than \$200 in a year's time. Therefore, people with a long temporal distance (i.e., six months before arrival) are likely to perceive significantly less costs when they have the 'pay later' option rather than 'pay now'. In a relatively short temporal distance situation (i.e., booking a room one week before arrival), people's perceived price may not change, even though they have the 'book now, pay later' option. In this case, the current study anticipates no difference in perceived price between 'pay now' and 'pay later'. Based on the findings above, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H4: Temporal distance moderates the effect of the time of payment on perceived price such that customers with a longer temporal distance perceive a significantly lower price when they are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition; however, customers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived price between the "pay now" and the "pay later" conditions.

H5: Temporal distance moderates the effect of the time of payment on purchase intention such that customers with a longer temporal distance have a significantly greater purchase intention when they are under the "pay later" than under the "pay now" condition; however, customers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in purchase intention between the "pay now" and the "pay later" conditions

The Interaction Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Risks

As discussed above, there are risks because of the nature of hotel products; normally, advanced bookers in a relatively long temporal distance situation may perceive relatively higher financial penalty, psychological, and time risks because they have more time to have unexpected situations before the check-in date than last-minute bookers. However, consumers with 'pay later' may perceive lower risks than consumers with 'pay now' in a relatively long temporal distance situation because consumers with 'pay later' do not have to make any financial commitment at the time of booking. The current study proposes in a relatively short temporal distance situation, people's perceived financial, psychological, and time risks may not change, even when they have the 'book now, pay later' option because their schedule may be more or less settled. Therefore, in a short temporal distance situation, the current study anticipates no differences in perceived risks between 'pay now' and 'pay later' (but significant differences in a long temporal distance situation). Thus, the following hypotheses are proposed: **H6a:** Temporal distance moderates the effect of the time of payment on perceived financial risk such that customers with a longer temporal distance perceive a significantly higher financial risk when they are under the "pay now" than under the "pay later" condition; however, customers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived financial risk between the "pay now" and the "pay later" conditions.

H6b: Temporal distance moderates the effect of the time of payment on perceived psychological risk such that customers with a longer temporal distance perceive a significantly higher psychological risk when they are under the "pay now" than under the "pay later" condition; however, customers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived psychological risk between the "pay now" and the "pay later" conditions.

H6c: Temporal distance moderates the effect of the time of payment on perceived time risk such that customers with a longer temporal distance perceive a significantly higher time risk when they are under the "pay now" than under the "pay later" condition; however, customers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived time risk between the "pay now" and the "pay later" conditions.

Figure 2 presents the conceptual model of the study and illustrates the hypothesized relationships among variables investigated in the study.

Figure 2

Conceptual Framework of Study 1: The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal

Distance on Perceived Price, Perceived Risk, and Purchase Intention



Methods

Design and Participants

Study 1 employed a 2 (delays in payments: pay now vs. pay later) \times 2 (temporal distance: near future vs. distant future) between-subjects scenario-based experimental design. The independent variables were delays in payments and temporal distance (moderator), and the dependent variables were perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived risks: a) financial risk, b) psychological risk, and c) time risk. One hundred

eighty participants were recruited through an online crowd-sourcing platform. The respondents were eligible if they were 18 years of age or older and were living in the United States.

Procedure

Participants were first instructed to read the general information and guidelines of this study and complete an online informed consent form. Next, participants were randomly assigned to one of 2 (delays in payments) \times 2 (temporal distance) experimental conditions. In all four experimental conditions, participants were instructed to imagine themselves as a customer planning a vacation and they needed to reserve a hotel room online presented in the scenario. Then, participants were further asked to imagine that they chose a hotel with a nightly room rate of \$139 after searching for the hotels in the place they were going to travel. The hotel used in the scenario was a three-star hotel (upper-midscale) because the upper-midscale is the most dominant room available in both the existing hotel market and the new hotel construction according to U.S. Lodging Industry Overview (Cushman & Wakefield, 2019). The room rate used in the scenario was based on actual market prices at the time of experiment. Participants in the near [far] future condition were asked to imagine that their trip would be in one week [in six months]. According to Sojern's Global Travel Insights report (2016), in the case of North America, the two most frequent lead times (length of time between booking and stay) are "more than 60 days (33%)" and "0-7 days (21%)". Because the "more than 60 days" bracket may sound ambiguous to participants and does not indicate a specific time period, this research adopted the two temporal distance manipulation levels (one week vs. six months) from previous studies (Choi et al., 2019; Liberman et al., 2002; Stephan et al., 2011) to build a more solid manipulation. This experiment also manipulated the payment time by varying the 'book now, pay later' option (pay now vs. pay later). Specifically, the information in the 'pay now' condition was described as "Non-refundable (Pay Now)". On the other hand, the information in the 'pay later' condition was described as "Reserve now, pay when you stay (Pay Later)". Apart from the payment information, everything else was the same between the 'pay now' and 'pay later' conditions. The scenario was followed by a set of manipulations checks and dependent variable measures. At the end of the survey, participants were asked to answer a series of questions related to demographics.

Measures

Dependent variables included perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived risks. First, participants were asked to respond to four items regarding their perceived price of the hotel's room rate on a 7-point scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree), based largely on Ryu and Han's work (2010): 1) "The room price is reasonable.", 2) "The room price is reasonable.", 3) "The room price is appropriate.", and 4) "The room price is affordable." Next, participants were instructed to indicate their purchase intention on three items modified from Lien at al.'s work (2015): 1) "After reviewing the information, the probability that I would book this hotel is high.", 2) "I would consider booking this room at the price shown.", and 3) "My willingness to book this hotel is high." All of these items were measured on a 7-point likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree). Finally, the three types of perceived risks were measured using a 7-

point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree) adapted from Kim et al. (2015), Park and Tussyadiah (2017), and Park et al., (2004), respectively. Firstly, perceived financial risk was assessed with four items: 1) "Booking the hotel room would be an inappropriate way to spend money.", 2) "If I booked the hotel room, I would be concerned that the financial investment would not be wise.", 3) "If I booked the hotel room, I would be concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.", and 4) "Booking the hotel room would not provide value for the money I spent." Secondly, perceived psychological risk was measured with three items: 1) "The thought of booking the room makes me feel uncomfortable.", 2) "The thought of booking the room causes me to experience tension." Lastly, perceived time risk was evaluated with two items: 1) "Booking the hotel room could lead to an inefficient use of my time." and 2) "Booking the hotel room would take too much time / be a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds."

The survey also included manipulation checks to make sure that the manipulations for the types of delays in payments and temporal distance performed as intended. For the manipulation check for the delays in payments type, participants were instructed to select the delays in payments message that was shown on the hypothetical OTA website. They were presented with three options: (a) Non-refundable (Pay Now), (b) Reserve now, pay when you stay (Pay Later), and (c) I do not remember. Concerning the temporal distance manipulation, participants were asked to indicate when they would be staying at a hotel from three options: (a) a week from now, (b) six months from now, and (c) I do not remember.

One individual difference variable, annual household income, which may co-vary with the dependent variables, was included as a control variable for this study. Annual household income was measured using a single item, "What is your combined annual household income?" For this item, participants were provided with a 7-point ordinal scale ranging from 1 (\$19,999 or less) to 7 (\$200,000 and over).

Results

Sample Profile

A total of 208 individuals participated in this study via Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk), and twenty-two participants who gave invalid responses to the attention filters and six participants who failed the manipulation checks were excluded from the analyses. A total of 180 responses were kept for further analyses as shown in Table 1. The sample size was calculated using G*Power software version 3.1.9.2 (Institute of Experimental Psychology, Heinrich Heine University, Dusseldorf, Germany) with 90% power and α =0.05. Among the 180 participants, 53.2% were male and 46.8% were female. A total of 63.7% of participants held a bachelor's or higher degree, and 32.7% had annual household incomes between \$40,000 and \$79,999. About 49.1% of participants reported that they had stayed at hotels 1-2 times in the last twelve months and 52.2% had made online hotel reservations 1-2 times in the last twelve months (see Table 2).

Number of Observations per Cell

		Time of Payment				
		Pay Now	Pay Later	Total		
T 1	Near Future	40) 51	91		
Distance	Distant Future	41	48	89		
	Total	81	. 99	180		

Table 2

Demographic Profile of the Respondents (N = 180)

Demographic Variables	Frequency	Percent (%)
Gender		
Male	97	53.9
Female	83	46.1
Age		
18–25	4	2.2
26–35	79	43.9
36–45	51	28.3
46–55	28	15.6
56–65	14	7.8
66 and over	4	2.2
Annual Household Income		
\$19,999 or less	17	9.4
\$20,000 - \$39,999	49	27.2
\$40,000 - \$79,999	61	33.9
\$80,000 - \$119,999	34	18.9
\$120,000 - \$159,999	11	6.1
\$160,000 - \$199,999	2	1.1
\$200,000 and over	6	3.3
Education		
High School	39	21.7
Associate's Degree	26	14.4
Bachelor's Degree	80	44.4
Graduate Degree	32	17.8
Other Education/Trade	1	.6
Missing	2	1.1

Hotel Stay Frequency in the Last Twelve Months

None	16	8.9
1-2 times	91	50.6
3-4 times	50	27.8
5-6 times	10	5.6
More than 6 times	12	6.7
Missing	1	.6
Online Booking Frequency in the Last Twelve Months		
None	21	11.7
1-2 times	94	52.2
3-4 times	43	23.9
5-6 times	11	6.1
More than 6 times	11	6.1

Manipulation Check

Before proceeding to the main data analysis, it was necessary to check whether the manipulations for the time of payment and temporal distance performed as intended. Following Song et al. (2019), for the time of booking manipulation, participants were instructed to indicate the payment information that was shown on the OTA website from three options: (1) Non-refundable (Pay Now); (2) Reserve now, pay when you stay (Pay Later); and, (3) I do not remember. All participants except four in the 'pay now' condition (95.3%, n = 85) selected option (1), and every participant except one in the 'pay later' condition (99.0%, n = 101) chose option (2). With regard to the temporal distance manipulation, participants were asked to select when their stay would occur from three options: (1) week from now; (2) Six months from now; and, C) I do not remember. All participants in the 'near future' condition (100.0 %, n = 93) selected option (1), and all participants except three in the 'distant future' condition (96.8%, n =93) chose option (2). One participant failed both the time of payment and temporal distance manipulation checks. A total of six participants who failed the manipulation checks were removed from the sample.

Reliability Test

The reliability of the measures in this study was measured by the reliability analysis using SPSS 21.0. The Cronbach alpha values ranged from 0.871 to 0.955. The Cronbach alpha index ranges from 0 to 1, and the higher alpha value indicates a higher internal consistency. The generally agreed lower limit of the Cronbach's alpha value is 0.70 (Hair et al., 2010). As seen in Table 3, all the variables had acceptable alpha values.

Table 3

Measurement Scale Items, Means, Standard Deviations, and Reliability

				Cronbach'	
				s Alpha	Cronbach'
			Std.	if Item	S
	Items	Mean	Deviation	Deleted	Alpha
Per	ceived Price				0.871
1.	The room price is inexpensive.	4.29	1.412	.912	
2.	The room price is reasonable.	5.31	1.158	.803	
3.	The room price is appropriate.	5.30	1.180	.813	
4.	The room price is affordable.	5.20	1.367	.808	
Pur	chase Intention				0.952
1	After reviewing the information the				
1.	probability that I would book this hotel is high.	4.96	1.577	.928	
2.	I would consider booking this room at the price shown.	5.31	1.480	.954	
3.	My willingness to book this hotel is high.	5.03	1.655	.905	
Per	ceived Financial Risk				0.918
1.	Booking the hotel room would be an inappropriate way to spend money.	2.80	1.747	.932	
2.	If I booked the hotel room, I would be concerned that the financial investment	3.12	1.912	.880	
3.	If I booked the hotel room, I would be				
	concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.	3.04	1.778	.879	
4.	Booking the hotel room would not provide value for the money I spent.	2.87	1.702	.879	

Per	ceived Psychological Risk				0.955
I.	The thought of booking the room makes me feel uncomfortable.	2.94	1.874	.948	
II.	The thought of booking the room gives me a feeling of anxiety.	2.85	1.908	.933	
III.	The thought of booking the room causes me to experience tension.	2.78	1.775	.923	
Per	ceived Time Risk				0.884
1.	Booking the hotel room could lead to an inefficient use of my time.	2.86	1.752		
2.	Booking the hotel room would take too				
	much time / be a waste of time due to	2.67	1.736		
	adjustments or refunds.				

Testing of Hypotheses

The primary purpose of Study 1 was to investigate whether temporal distance moderates the effects of delays in payments on perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived risks. Study 1 employed a 2 (delays in payments: pay now vs. pay later) \times 2 (temporal distance: near future vs. distant future) between-subjects full factorial experimental design. To test the hypotheses, this study performed a series of two-way analyses of covariance (ANCOVAs) for each of the dependent variables using delays in payments and temporal distance as independent variables, and annual household income as a covariate.

The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Price

ANCOVA results showed that the main effect of delays in payments was not statistically significant, as shown in Table 4 ($M_{pay now} = 4.97$ vs. $M_{pay later} = 5.08$, F (1,172) = .459, p = .499, partial $\eta 2 = .003$). The main effect of temporal distance was

also not statistically significant (M near future = 4.98 vs. M distant future = 5.06, F (1,172)

 $= .219, p = .640, partial \eta 2 = .001).$

Table 4

Source	Type III	df	Mean	F	Sig.	Partial Eta
	Squares		Square			Squared
Corrected Model	5.752 ^a	4	1.438	1.215	.306	.027
Intercept	610.591	1	610.591	515.929	< .001	.750
Income	4.788	1	4.788	4.046	.046	.023
DelaysInPayments	.543	1	.543	.459	.499	.003
TemporalDistance	.259	1	.259	.219	.640	.001
DelaysInPayments *	.036	1	.036	.030	.862	<.001
TemporalDistance						
Error	203.558	172	1.183			
Total	4681.938	177				
Corrected Total	209.310	176				

ANCOVA Results of Perceived Price

a. R Squared = .027 (Adjusted R Squared = .005)

The ANCOVA results also showed that there was no statistically significant interaction between time of payment and temporal distance on perceived price, while controlling for income (F(1, 172) = 0.03, p = .862, partial $\eta 2 < .001$). Taken together, these results do not support H1 and H4. Table 5 presents the cell means and standard errors.

	Pay	Now	Pay Later		
	Near Future	Distant Future	Near Future	Distant Future	
М	4.929	4.988	5.034	5.133	
(SD)	(1.042)	(1.106)	(0.998)	(1.230)	
M adj	4.942	4.990	5.025	5.130	
(SE)	(0.174)	(0.172)	(0.152)	(0.159)	

Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Perceived Price

The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Purchase Intention

To examine the effects of delays in payments and temporal distance on consumers' purchase intention, ANCOVA was performed with income as a covariate. As predicted, the results indicated that the main effect of delays in payments was statistically significant (F(1,175) = 27.79, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .137$; see Table 6). Participants' purchase intention in the 'pay later' group was significantly higher than that in the 'pay now' group ($M_{pay now} = 4.50$ vs. $M_{pay later} = 5.57$). The main effect of temporal distance was also statistically significant (F(1,175) = 2.94, p < .10, partial $\eta 2 = .017$). Participants in the 'near future' condition had a significantly higher level of purchase intention than their counterparts in the 'distant future' condition ($M_{near future} = 5.21$ vs. $M_{distant future} = 4.86$).

Source	Type III Sum of	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Squares		•			*
Corrected Model	86.776ª	4	21.694	11.691	< .001	.211
Intercept	539.041	1	539.041	290.484	< .001	.624
Income	16.056	1	16.056	8.652	.004	.047
DelaysInPayments	51.561	1	51.561	27.786	< .001	.137
TemporalDistance	5.451	1	5.451	2.938	.088	.017
DelaysInPayments *	13.519	1	13.519	7.285	.008	.040
TemporalDistance						
Error	324.742	175	1.856			
Total	5062.463	180				
Corrected Total	411.518	179				

ANCOVA Results of Purchase Intention

a. R Squared = .211 (Adjusted R Squared = .193)

The results also revealed that there was a statistically significant interaction between time of payment and temporal distance on purchase intention, while controlling for income (F(1, 175) = 7.29, p < .05, partial $\eta 2 = .040$). Participants with a longer temporal distance had a significantly greater purchase intention in the 'pay later' condition compared to the 'pay now' condition (M pay now- distant future = 4.05 vs. M pay laterdistant future = 5.67). However, participants with a shorter temporal distance exhibited no such difference in purchase intention (M pay now- near future = 4.95 vs. M pay later-near future = 5.47). Taken together, these results support H2 and H5. Table 7 presents the cell means and standard errors and Table 8 shows pairwise comparisons for each group. This interaction is visualized in Figure 3.

	Pay	Now	Pay Later		
	Near Future	Distant Future	Near Future	Distant Future	
М	4.925	4.041	5.490	5.674	
(SD)	(1.608)	(1.572)	(1.142)	(1.271)	
M adj	4.946	4.045	5.471	5.673	
(SE)	(0.216)	(0.213)	(0.191)	(0.197)	

Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Purchase Intention

Table 8

	-	-		
(I) Cell	(J) Cell	Mean	Std. Error	Sig. ^b
		Difference (I-J)		
	Pay Now – Distant Future	.901*	.303	.020
Pay Now – Near Future	Pay Later – Near Future	526	.288	.418
	Pay Later – Distant Future	727	.292	.082
	Pay Now – Near Future	901*	.303	.020
Pay Now – Distant Future	Pay Later – Near Future	-1.427*	.286	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	-1.628*	.290	<.001
	Pay Now – Near Future	.526	.288	.418
Pay Later – Near Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	1.427^{*}	.286	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	201	.274	1.000
	Pay Now – Near Future	.727	.292	.082
Pay Later – Distant Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	1.628^{*}	.290	<.001
	Pay Later – Near Future	.201	.274	1.000

Pairwise Comparisons of Purchase Intention

Notes: Based on estimated marginal means

*. The mean difference is significant at the .05 level.

b. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

Figure 3



Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Purchase Intention

The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Financial Risk

This study included three types of perceived risks: financial risk, psychological risk, and time risk. ANCOVA test was conducted to investigate the effects of delays in payments and temporal distance on perceived financial risk. The ANCOVA results revealed that the main effect of delays in payments was significant (F(1,175) = 38.37, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .180$), indicating that participants in the 'pay now' condition perceived a significantly higher level of financial risk than their counterparts in the 'pay later' condition ($M_{pay now} = 3.64$ vs. $M_{pay later} = 2.39$). The main effect of temporal distance was also statistically significant (F(1,175) = 5.72, p < .05, partial $\eta 2 = .032$). Participants in the 'distant future' condition perceived a significantly higher level of

financial risk than their counterparts in the 'near future' condition ($M_{near future} = 2.77$ vs.

M distant future = 3.25). The ANCOVA results are presented in Table 9.

Table 9

Source	Type III	df	Mean	F	Sig.	Partial Eta
	Sum of		Square			Squared
	Squares					
Corrected Model	139.731ª	4	34.933	19.410	< .001	.307
Intercept	22.101	1	22.101	12.280	.001	.066
Income_R	33.084	1	33.084	18.382	< .001	.095
DelaysInPayments	69.053	1	69.053	38.367	< .001	.180
TemporalDistance	10.288	1	10.288	5.716	.018	.032
DelaysInPayments *	27.850	1	27.850	15.474	< .001	.081
TemporalDistance						
Error	314.961	175	1.800			
Total	2029.531	180				
Corrected Total	454.692	179				

ANCOVA Results of Perceived Financial Risk

a. R Squared = .307 (Adjusted R Squared = .291)

The ANCOVA results also revealed a significant delays in payments × temporal distance interaction effect on perceived financial risk, while controlling for income (*F* (1, 175) = 15.47, *p* < .001, partial η 2 = .081). In the "distant future" condition, there was a significant difference between 'pay now' and pay later' (*M* pay now- distant future = 4.27 vs. *M* pay later-distant future = 2.24). However, in the "near future" condition, there was no such difference in perceived financial risk (*M* pay now- near future = 3.00 vs. *M* pay later-near future = 2.55). These results support H3a and H6a. Table 10 presents the cell means and standard

errors and Table 11 shows pairwise comparisons for each group. This interaction is visualized in Figure 4.

Table 10

Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Perceived Financial Risk

	Pay	Now	Pay Later		
	Near Future	Distant Future	Near Future	Distant Future	
М	3.031	4.279	2.520	2.234	
(SD)	(1.473)	(1.529)	(1.308)	(1.340)	
M adj	3.001	4.273	2.546	2.236	
(SE)	(0.212)	(0.210)	(0.188)	(0.194)	

(I) Cell	(J) Cell	Mean	Std.	Sig. ^b
		Difference (I-J)	Error	
	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.272^{*}	.298	< .001
Pay Now – Near Future	Pay Later – Near Future	.455	.284	.663
	Pay Later – Distant Future	.765	.287	.051
	Pay Now – Near Future	1.272^{*}	.298	< .001
Pay Now – Distant Future	Pay Later – Near Future	1.727^{*}	.282	< .001
·	Pay Later – Distant Future	2.037^{*}	.285	< .001
	Pay Now – Near Future	455	.284	.663
Pay Later – Near Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.727^{*}	.282	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	.311	.270	1.000
	Day Now Near Future	765	287	051
Day Latar Distant Futura	Pay Now – Incar Future	703	.207	.001
ray Later – Distant Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	-2.057	.285	< .001
	Pay Later – Near Future	311	.270	1.000

Table 11Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Financial Risk

Notes: Based on estimated marginal means

*. The mean difference is significant at the .05 level.

b. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

Figure 4

Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Financial



Risk

The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Psychological Risk

To investigate the effects of delays in payments and temporal distance on perceived psychological risk, ANCOVA test was performed with income as a covariate. The ANCOVA results revealed that the main effect of delays in payments was statistically significant (F(1,174) = 43.37, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .199$; see Table 12). Participants' psychological risk in the 'pay now' group was significantly higher than the 'pay later' group ($M_{pay now} = 3.66$ vs. $M_{pay later} = 2.19$). The main effect of temporal distance was also statistically significant (F(1,174) = 3.88, p < .05, partial $\eta 2 = .022$), indicating that participants in the 'distant future' condition perceived a significantly higher level of psychological risk than their counterparts in the 'near future' condition (M near future = 2.71 vs. M distant future = 3.15).

Table 12

Source	Type III	df	Mean	F	Sig.	Partial Eta
	Sum of		Square			Squared
	Squares					
Corrected Model	175.784 ^a	4	43.946	19.833	< .001	.313
Intercept	11.535	1	11.535	5.206	.024	.029
Income_R	45.990	1	45.990	20.756	<.001	.107
DelaysInPayments	95.884	1	95.884	43.273	< .001	.199
TemporalDistance	8.604	1	8.604	3.883	.050	.022
DelaysInPayments *	23.225	1	23.225	10.482	.001	.057
TemporalDistance						
Error	385.546	174	2.216			
Total	2025.936	179				
Corrected Total	561.330	178	_			

ANCOVA Results of Perceived Psychological Risk

a. R Squared = .313 (Adjusted R Squared = .297)

As predicted, there was a statistically significant interaction between time of payment and temporal distance on perceived psychological risk, while controlling for income (F(1, 174) = 10.48, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .057$). When temporal distance was long, participants perceived a significantly higher psychological risk in the 'pay now' condition compared to the 'pay later' condition ($M_{pay now-distant future} = 4.24$ vs. $M_{pay later-distant future} = 2.05$). However, when temporal distance was short, participants exhibited no such difference in perceived psychological risk ($M_{pay now-near future} = 3.08$ vs. $M_{pay later-near future} = 2.33$). Taken together, these results support H3b and H6b. Table 13 presents the cell means and standard errors. Table 14 shows pairwise comparisons for each group. This interaction is visualized in Figure 5.

Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Perceived

	Pay	Now	Pay Later		
	Near Future	Distant Future	Near Future	Distant Future	
М	3.117	4.252	2.294	2.048	
(SD)	(1.768)	(1.812)	(1.383)	(1.342)	
M adj	3.079	4.244	2.331	2.048	
(SE)	(0.236)	(0.232)	(0.211)	(0.215)	

Psychological Risk

Table 14

Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Psychological Risk

(I) Cell	(J) Cell	Mean	Std. Error	Sig. ^b
		Difference (I-J)		
	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.165*	.331	.003
Pay Now – Near Future	Pay Later – Near Future	.748	.316	.115
	Pay Later – Distant Future	1.031*	.319	.009
	Pay Now – Near Future	1.165^{*}	.331	.003
Pay Now – Distant Future	Pay Later – Near Future	1.912^{*}	.314	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	2.196^{*}	.317	< .001
	Pay Now – Near Future	748	.316	.115
Pay Later – Near Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.912*	.314	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	.284	.301	1.000
	Pay Now – Near Future	-1.031*	.319	.009
Pay Later – Distant future	Pay Now – Distant Future	-2.196*	.317	< .001
	Pay Later – Near Future	284	.301	1.000

Notes: Based on estimated marginal means

*. The mean difference is significant at the .05 level.

b. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

Figure 5

Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived



Psychological Risk

The Effects of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Time Risk

ANCOVA test was performed to examine the effects of delays in payments and temporal distance on perceived time risk. As shown in Table 15, ANCOVA results revealed that the main effect of delays in payments was statistically significant (F (1,174) = 24.82, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .125$). In the 'pay now' condition, participants perceived a significantly higher level of time risk than their counterparts in the 'pay later' condition ($M_{pay now} = 3.38$ vs. $M_{pay later} = 2.27$). Contrary to the prediction, the main effect of temporal distance was not statistically significant ($M_{near future} = 2.68$ vs. $M_{distant future} = 2.97$, F (1,174) = 3.88, p = .193, partial $\eta 2 = .010$).

Source	Type III Sum of	df	Mean Square	F	Sig.	Partial Eta Squared
	Squares		-			-
Corrected Model	102.348 ^a	4	25.587	11.662	< .001	.211
Intercept	16.181	1	16.181	7.375	.007	.041
Income_R	32.752	1	32.752	14.928	< .001	.079
DelaysInPayments	54.448	1	54.448	24.816	< .001	.125
TemporalDistance	3.749	1	3.749	1.709	.193	.010
DelaysInPayments *	9.062	1	9.062	4.130	.044	.023
TemporalDistance						
Error	381.761	174	2.194			
Total	1858.500	179				
Corrected Total	484.109	178	<u>-</u>			

ANCOVA Results of Perceived Time Risk

a. R Squared = .211 (Adjusted R Squared = .193)

The ANCOVA results showed a significant interaction effect between delays in payments and temporal distance on perceived time risk, while controlling for income (F (1, 174) = 4.13, p < .05, partial $\eta 2$ = .023). In the long temporal distance condition, there was a significant difference in perceived time risk between 'pay now' and pay later' (M pay now- distant future = 3.75 vs. M pay later-distant future = 2.19). However, in the short temporal distance condition, there was no such difference in perceived time risk (M pay now- near future = 3.00 vs. M pay later-near future = 2.35). These results support H3c and H6c. Table 16 presents the cell means and standard errors and Table 17 shows pairwise comparisons for each group. This interaction is visualized in Figure 6.

	Pay	Now	Pay Later		
	Near Future	Distant Future	Near Future	Distant Future	
М	3.038	3.756	2.310	2.188	
(SD)	(1.722)	(1.689)	(1.439)	(1.331)	
M adj	3.004	3.747	2.347	2.185	
(SE)	(0.234)	(0.231)	(0.210)	(0.214)	

Means, Adjust Means, Standard Deviations and Standard Errors of Perceived Time Risk

Table 17

(I) Cell	(J) Cell	Mean Difference (I-J)	Std. Error	Sig. ^b
	Pay Now – Distant Future	743	.329	.151
Pay Now – Near Future	Pay Later – Near Future	.657	.315	.230
	Pay Later – Distant Future	.819	.317	.064
Pay Now – Distant Future	Pay Now – Near Future	.743	.329	.151
	Pay Later – Near Future	1.400^{*}	.312	< .001
	Pay Later – Distant Future	1.562^{*}	.315	<.001
	Pay Now – Near Future	657	.315	.230
Pay Later – Near Future	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.400^{*}	.312	< .001
-	Pay Later – Distant Future	.162	.299	1.000
Pay Later – Distant Future	Pay Now – Near Future	819	.317	.064
	Pay Now – Distant Future	-1.562*	.315	< .001
	Pay Later – Near Future	162	.299	1.000

Pairwise Comparisons of Perceived Time Risk

Notes: Based on estimated marginal means *. The mean difference is significant at the .05 level.

b. Adjustment for multiple comparisons: Bonferroni.

Figure 6



Interaction Effect of Delays in Payments and Temporal Distance on Perceived Time Risk

Discussion

The purposes of Study 1 were 1) to examine whether delays in payments (i.e., pay later) influence consumers' perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived risks; and 2) to investigate whether temporal distance moderates such relationships. The results provide meaningful insights into the growing phenomenon of 'pay later'. The findings of Study 1 complement the previous literature of delays in payments, which has rarely investigated the influence in a hospitality and tourism context, by examining not only the behavioral aspects prior research mainly focused on but also perceived risks. This section discusses the three main findings of the study.

First, Study 1 found significant impacts of delays in payments on purchase intention and perceived risks. The study's findings indicate that individuals perceive significantly lower financial, psychological, and time risks, and greater purchase intention when a hotel offers the 'pay later' option. In terms of purchase intention, this finding is consistent with the notion of transaction de-coupling in a retail setting (Prelec & Loewenstein, 1998). The notion suggests that when transaction benefits temporally precede transaction costs (i.e., 'pay later'), the actual cost of the transaction is less likely to be perceived. Study 1 also found significant effects of temporal distance on purchase intention and perceived risks, indicating that people have less purchase intention and perceive higher financial and psychological risks when the travel time is in the distant future. An interesting finding of Study 1 is that, contrary to perceived financial and psychological risks, temporal distance does not influence consumers' perceived time risk. This finding suggests that temporal distance may not necessarily affect perceived nonmonetary risk (i.e., perceived time risk: a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds) as opposed to monetary risk.

Second, the study extends the literature by demonstrating temporal distance moderates the effects of delays in payments on purchase intention and perceived financial, psychological, and time risks. It turns out that the effect of delays in payments is limited to situations where temporal distance is long. Perceived risks and purchase intention are not affected by delays in payments when temporal distance is short. These findings suggest that 'pay later' may not necessarily decrease consumers' perceived risks and increase purchase intention when the travel time is in the relatively near future. This finding supports the notion that the more delays in payments, the more benefits one perceives (Siemens, 2007).

Lastly, interestingly, the results reveal that there is no significant difference in perceived price between the 'pay now' and 'pay later' conditions. These findings suggest that delays in payments may not necessarily affect consumers' perceived price. This is in contrast to the previous finding that delayed payments lead to less perceived costs (Ainslie, 2001). One plausible explanation for the null effect could be due to the fact that price is reference-dependent. If a hotel offers both the 'pay now' and 'pay later' options at the same price, consumers' perceived price for each option may be significantly different because price perceptions and judgments are relative. Furthermore, the results indicated that temporal distance has no significant effect on people's perceived price. Time is one of the most crucial factors in revenue-optimizing mechanisms, and this timebased pricing plays an important role in the hotel industry (Phillips, 2005). This timebased price differentiation is closely related to demand. The lack of support for the main effect of temporal distance suggests that consumers' price perception may not differ by the time of booking in situations where they do not recognize the demand-supply status of the hotel they try to book.

57

CHAPTER IV

STUDY 2: THE EFFECTS OF TEMPORAL DISTANCE AND INCENTIVE TYPES ON PAYMENT OPTION PREFERENCES AND PERCEIVED RISKS

Overview

As reported in Chapter 3, Study 1 investigated whether delays in payments ('pay now' vs. 'pay later') influences consumers' perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived risks, and examined whether temporal distance between the time of booking and actual arrival (near future vs. distant future) influences such relationships. Study 1's 'pay now' option was a payment option offered without any benefits or incentives, which means the 'pay now' room had the same price as the 'pay later' room to examine the pure effects of delays in payments. However, given the hotel industry's practice, many hotels set a low price for the 'pay now' option and it is unknown whether consumers' behaviors change if the 'pay now' option is offered with incentives, or the 'pay later' option requires a higher cost for delaying payments based on temporal distance.

To cover this different hotel booking situation, in Chapter 4, Study 2 shifts the focus to the other types of the 'pay now' options (i.e., with incentives) that service providers utilize to entice consumers to pay the full cost of a room at the time of purchase

(i.e., immediate payment). Many service providers use incentives to change consumers' purchase decisions and, therefore, it is important for service providers to recognize which incentive types can yield better effects. However, the previous findings on the effects of incentive types on consumers' preferences are diverse, and which incentive type is more effective according to temporal distance remains unknown. Thus, Study 2 attempts to examine what types of payment options ('pay now' with non-monetary incentive vs. 'pay now' with monetary incentive vs. 'pay later') are preferable when the temporal distance between booking and arrival is relatively near vs. far. Also, the study investigates how the payment options and temporal distance jointly influence consumers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks.

This chapter includes four sections. In the first section, hypotheses development with a review of the literature is presented. The second section introduces the methods used in Study 2, including the experiment design, procedure, and measures. In the next section, data analysis and results are presented. This chapter concludes with discussions about the results of the study.

Hypotheses Development

The Effects of Temporal Distance on Payment Choice

As discussed in Chapter 2, construal level theory posits that the temporal distance of events systematically impacts how events are evaluated (Trope & Liberman, 2003, 2010). When events happen in the distant future, individuals construe them in terms of abstract, general, superordinate, and decontextualized features that deliver the essence of the information (a high level construal). In contrast, when events happen in the near future, people are more likely to construe them in terms of concrete, specific, subordinate, and contextual features that deliver details of the information (a low level construal). According to Liberman and Trope (1998), people who construe an event in abstract, high-level (vs. concrete, low-level) ways also weigh ideals and values (vs. contextual details) more heavily and give more weight to desirability (vs. feasibility).

Applying this logic to the hotel booking context, when the travel time is in the distant future, consumers construe the booking decision at a high construal level. At this point, if a hotel offers non-monetary incentives (i.e., high-level construed messages) for the 'pay now' option, because of congruence between the temporal distance and the construed level of the incentive type, non-monetary incentives are expected to produce better effects than monetary incentives that are low-level construed and mismatched with people's manner of construing the hotel booking. This long temporal distance from arrival may lead to the focus of desirability attributes (i.e., the desire to have more services such as complimentary breakfast or 'pay later', or to match personal preferences such as an ocean-side view). On the contrary, when the travel time is in the near future, people construe the hotel booking at a low-level. At this time, if the hotel provides monetary incentives for the 'pay now' option, they would likely produce greater impacts than mismatched, non-monetary incentives, because monetary incentives match the way people mentally represent the booking. This short temporal distance from arrival results in the weighting of feasibility attributes (i.e., price discount). In the case of the 'pay later' option, delays in costs (payments) are considered as gains (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979). Although this option does not offer any incentives, it may be regarded as a highlevel construed message because the option places the emphasis on 'gains', which indicate the desirability of an event's outcome (Chou & Lien, 2012). Therefore, when the travel time is in the distant future, because of the construal matching effect, the 'pay later' option is likely to generate greater persuasive effectiveness rather than when the travel time is in the near future. Based on these suppositions, the following hypotheses are proposed:

H7. There is a significant association between temporal distance and payment choice such that:

H7a. A significantly larger proportion of people in the "near future" condition will choose the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option than people in the "distant future" condition.

H7b. A significantly larger proportion of people in the "distant future" condition will choose the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option than people in the "near future" condition.

H7c. A significantly larger proportion of people in the "distant future" condition will choose the 'pay later' option than people in the "near future" condition.

The Interaction Effects of Temporal Distance and Payment Options on Perceived Risks

As discussed in Study 1, there are inherent risks for hotel products; generally, when temporal distance between booking and check-in is relatively long, people may perceive relatively higher financial, psychological, and time risks because they have more time to have unexpected situations before their actual arrival than people who with a relatively short temporal distance from check-in. Thus, notwithstanding the monetary or non-monetary incentive, people may perceive higher risks from the 'pay now' options than the 'pay later' option in relatively long temporal distance situations because this temporal distance intensifies perceived risks of the 'pay now' options. Due to this fact, Study 2 anticipates that there will be no significant difference in perceived risks between the two 'pay now' options (i.e., the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive and 'pay now' with monetary incentive options). In contrast, in a relatively short temporal distance situation, this temporal distance reduces people's perceived financial, psychological, and time risks of the 'pay now' options regardless of the incentive type and also attenuates the impact of the 'pay later' option on people's perceived risks. Therefore, there may be no significant difference in perceived risks between these three payment options, and the following hypotheses are proposed:

H8a. Temporal distance moderates the effect of payment options on perceived financial risk such that when temporal distance is relatively long, people perceive a significantly higher financial risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and
monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option; however, people with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived financial risk. **H8b.** Temporal distance moderates the effect of payment options on perceived psychological risk such that when temporal distance is relatively long, people perceive a significantly higher psychological risk from the 'pay now' with nonmonetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option; however, people with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived psychological risk.

H8c. Temporal distance moderates the effect of payment options on perceived time risk such that when temporal distance is relatively long, people perceive a significantly higher time risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option; however, people with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such difference in perceived time risk.

Methods

Design and Participants

Study 2 used a 2 (temporal distance: near future vs. distant future) \times 3 (payment options: pay now with non-monetary incentive vs. pay now with monetary incentive vs. pay later) repeated measures scenario-based experimental design. The temporal distance factor was virtually identical to the one described in Study 1, and it was a between-subjects factor. The payment options was a within-subjects factor that included three types of payment options. One of the main differences between Study 1 and Study 2 was

that Study 1 provided only one payment option at a time (either 'pay now' or 'pay later') and there were not any incentives for 'pay now' (or any fees for 'pay later'). Study 2 presented participants with three payment options for the same room at the same time, and included incentives for 'pay now'. One hundred forty-four participants were recruited through an online crowd-sourcing platform, and the respondents were eligible if they were 18 years of age or older and were living in the United States.

Procedure

Participants were first instructed to read the general information and guidelines of this experiment and complete an online informed consent form. Participants were randomly assigned to one of the two (temporal distance: near future vs. distant future) experimental conditions. In both experimental conditions, participants were instructed to imagine themselves as a customer booking a hotel room online, and they were planning a single night solo leisure trip to New York City in the scenario. Consistent with Study 1, Study 2 manipulated temporal distance by the time of the trip. Specifically, participants in the near [distant] future condition were asked to imagine that their trip would be in one week [in six months]. The temporal distance manipulation (one week vs. six months) was adopted from the previous work (Choi, Bolton, and Grishin, 2019; Liberman, Sagristano, & Trope, 2002; Stephan, Liberman, & Trope, 2011). Then, participants were further asked to imagine that they chose a three-star hotel with a nightly room rate of \$ 189 after searching for the hotels in the place they were going to travel. The room rate used in the scenario was based on actual market prices at the time of experiment. Unlike Study 1, in the scenario of Study 2, the hotel provided three different payment options for the same room based on the time of payment – (1) pay now with surprise upgrade (nonmonetary incentive for 'pay now'), (2) pay now with surprise rebate (monetary incentive for 'pay now') and (3) pay later. The study hid the amount of incentives (e.g., surprise upgrade or surprise rebate) to avoid potential bias. Apart from the time of the trip, everything else was the same between the 'near future' and 'distant future' conditions. After being exposed to the hotel's information, participants were asked to complete a manipulation check. Next, respondents were asked to choose one payment option they preferred out of the three given payment options (one-shot decision) and further asked to evaluate their perceived risks (i.e., perceived financial, psychological, and time risks) for each payment option (repeated evaluations). At the end of the experiment, participants were asked to answer a series of questions related to demographics.

Measures

First, to test participants' choice among three payment options, participants were asked to choose one payment option they would prefer ("You have decided to choose this hotel. What option would you choose?"). Next, the three types of perceived risks for each payment option were measured using a 7-point Likert scale (1 = strongly disagree; 7 = strongly agree) adapted from Kim et al. (2015), Park and Tussyadiah (2017), and Park et al. (2004), respectively. Firstly, perceived financial risk was assessed with four items: 1) "Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option would be an inappropriate way to spend money.", 2) "If I booked the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option, I would be concerned that the financial investment

would not be wise.", 3) " If I booked the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option, I would be concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.", and 4) "Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option would not provide value for the money I spent." Secondly, perceived psychological risk was measured with three items: 1) "The thought of booking the room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option makes me feel uncomfortable.", 2) "The thought of booking the room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option gives me a feeling of anxiety.", and 3) "The thought of booking the room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option causes me to experience tension." Lastly, perceived time risk was evaluated with two items: 1) "Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option could lead to an inefficient use of my time." and 2) "Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option would take too much time / be a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds."

This experiment also included a manipulation check to ascertain that the manipulation for temporal distance performed as intended. Specifically, participants were asked to indicate when their stay would occur from three options: (a) one week from now; (b) six months from now; and, (c) I do not remember.

66

Data Analysis Methods

All data collected were analyzed using the Statistical Packages for Social Sciences (SPSS) 21.0 for Windows. To investigate the associations between temporal distance and payment option choice, the chi-square tests were performed. Repeated measures ANOVAs (analysis of variances) with one between-subjects factor (temporal distance) and one within-subjects factor (payment options) were implemented to examine the differences in perceived risks between the experimental conditions.

Results

Sample Profile

A total of 168 individuals participated in Study 2 through Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk). Twenty-one participants who gave invalid responses to the attention filter and three participants who failed the manipulation check were dropped from the study. The final sample, therefore, consisted of 144 participants. The sample size was calculated using G*Power software version 3.1.9.2 (Institute of Experimental Psychology, Heinrich Heine University, Dusseldorf, Germany) with 80% power and α =0.05. Among the 144 participants, 60.4% were male and 39.6% were female. A total of 64.7% of participants held a bachelor's or higher degree, and 40.3% had annual household incomes between \$40,000 and \$79,999. About 45.8% of participants reported that they had stayed at hotels 1-2 times in the last twelve months and 44.4% had made online hotel reservations 1-2 times in the last twelve months. Table 18 summarizes the demographic characteristics of the participants.

Table 18

Demographic Variables	Frequency	Percent (%)
Gender		
Male	87	60.4
Female	57	39.6
Age		
18–25	4	2.8
26–35	62	43.1
36–45	49	34.0
46–55	15	10.4
56–65	13	9.0
66 and over	1	0.7
Annual Household Income		
\$10,000 or less	18	12.5
\$20,000 - \$30,000	35	24.3
\$40,000 - \$79,999	58	24.3 40.3
\$40,000 - \$110,000 \$80,000 - \$110,000	21	40.5
\$120,000 \$115,000	21	5.6
\$120,000 - \$139,999	0	5.0
\$200,000 - \$155,555 \$200,000 and over	0	0.0
Missing	J 1	2.1
wiissing	1	0.7
Education		
High School	30	20.8
Associate's Degree	21	14.6
Bachelor's Degree	63	43.8
Graduate Degree	26	18.1
Other Education/Trade	2	1.4
Missing	2	1.4
Hotel Stay Frequency in the Last Twelve Months		
Nono	18	12.5
1.2 times	10	12.3
$\frac{1-2}{2}$ times	00 42	43.0
5-4 tilles	43 10	29.9
J-U UIIIES More than 6 times	10	0.9
Miorie unan o umes	0	4.2
Missing	1	0.7

Demographic Profile of the Respondents (N = 144)

Online Booking Frequency in the Last Twelve Months		
None	24	16.7
1-2 times	64	44.4
3-4 times	42	29.2
5-6 times	7	4.9
More than 6 times	7	4.9

Manipulation Check

The manipulation check for Study 2 was similar to that used in Study 1. Following Song et al. (2019), participants were asked to select when their stay would occur from three options to ensure the temporal distance manipulation performed as expected: (1) week from now; (2) Six months from now; and, C) I do not remember. All participants except two in the 'near future' condition (97.1%, n = 77) selected option (1), and every participant except one in the 'distant future' condition (98.7%, n = 70) chose option (2). A total of three participants who failed the manipulation check were excluded from further analyses.

Reliability Test

The reliability of the measures in the study was measured by the reliability analysis using SPSS 21.0. The Cronbach alpha values ranged from 0.917 to 0.944. The Cronbach alpha index ranges from 0 to 1, and the higher alpha value indicates a higher internal consistency. The generally agreed lower limit of the Cronbach's alpha value is 0.70 (Hair et al., 2010). As seen in Table 19, all the variables had acceptable alpha values.

Table 19

	Items	Mean	Std.	Cronbach' s Alpha if Item Deleted	Cronbach' s
Po	regived Financial Risk	Wiedii	Deviation	Delettu	Alpha 0.021
1.	Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option would be an inappropriate way to spend money.	3.13	1.787	.923	0.721
2.	If I booked the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option, I would be concerned that the financial investment would not be wise.	3.34	1.837	.881	
3.	If I booked the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option, I would be concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.	3.36	1.877	.882	
4.	Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option would not provide value for the money I spent.	3.25	1.750	.901	
л.					0.044
Per 1. 2	The thought of booking the room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option makes me feel uncomfortable.	3.08	1.875	.949	0.944
۷.	['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option gives me a feeling of anxiety	2.92	1.756	.906	
3.	The thought of booking the room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option causes me to experience tension.	2.97	1.871	.901	
Pe	rceived Time Risk				0.917
1.	Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/'pay now' with surprise rebate/ 'pay later'] option could lead to an inefficient use of my time.	3.04	1.815		
2.	Booking the hotel room with the ['pay now' with surprise upgrade/ 'pay now'	3.12	1.861		

Measurement Scale Items, Means, Standard Deviations, and Reliability

Testing of Hypotheses

Relationships between Temporal Distance and Payment Choice

The first objective of Study 2 was to examine whether consumers' preference for payment option would be influenced by temporal distance (H7). To test the hypothesis, the study conducted the chi-square test. The results revealed there was a significant difference in payment choice based on temporal distance ($\chi 2= 12.930$; p < 0.01; see Table 20), confirming H7. When the travel time was in the near future, around 45% of the participants preferred the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option for their hotel booking; when the travel time was in the distant future, however, a majority of participants (53%) preferred the 'pay later' option. When a chi-square test result has greater than one degree of freedom (i.e., larger than a 2×2 contingency table for the chisquare test of independence), the source of a statistically significant result is unclear (Sharpe, 2015). To address this issue, the study further performed post-hoc analyses using partitioning, an approach that involves dividing contingency tables of greater than 2 \times 2 into a set of smaller 2 \times 2 sub-tables and then testing those 2 \times 2 tables for statistical significance. In other words, as the chi-square test results did not show which payment choice group is associated with temporal distance, the study treated Table 20 as a series of tables for each row and performed a series of chi-square tests for each sub-table (H7ac).

Table 20

		Temporal Distance		Tatal		
		Near Future Distant Future		Total	χ2 / p	
_	Pay Now with Non- monetary Incentive	20 (29.0%)	19 (25.3%)	39 (27.1%)		
Payment Pay Now with Mone Choice Incentive	Pay Now with Monetary Incentive	31 (44.9%)	16 (21.3%)	47 (32.6%)	12.930 /	
	Pay Later	18 (26.1%)	40 (53.3%)	58 (40.3%)	0.002**	
	Total	69 (100.0%)	75 (100.0%)	144 (100.0%)		

Payment Choice Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance

In terms of the 'pay now' with non-monetary option, the distribution of crosstabulated results (see Table 21) shows that the distribution of payment choice between two options ('pay now' with non-monetary incentive vs. non-'pay now' with nonmonetary incentive [i.e., 'pay now' with monetary incentive & 'pay now'; the remaining two options]) by temporal distance was not significant ($\chi 2 = 0.243$, p = 0.708). Thus, H7a was not supported.

Table 21

Payment Choice (Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive vs. Non-Pay Now with Nonmonetary Incentive [i.e., Pay Now with Monetary Incentive & Pay Now]) Crosstabulated with Temporal Distance

		Tempora	al Distance	Total	$\sqrt{2}/n$
		Near Future	Distant Future	Total	λ2 / P
	Pay Now with Non- monetary Incentive	20 (29.0%)	19 (25.3%)	39 (27.1%)	
Payment Choice	Non-Pay Now with Non- monetary Incentive (i.e., Pay Now with Monetary Incentive & Pay Now)	49 (71.0%)	56 (74.7%)	105 (72.9%)	0.243 / 0.708
	Total	69 (100.0%)	75 (100.0%)	144 (100.0%)	

With regard to the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option, as shown in Table 22, the results of the chi-square test were significant ($\chi 2=9.099$; p < 0.01). These results support H7b, and indicate that a significantly larger proportion of participants in the "near future" condition (44.9%, n = 69) chose the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option than participants in the "distant future" condition (21.3%, n = 75).

Table 22

Payment Choice (Pay Now with Monetary Incentive vs. Non-Pay Now with Monetary Incentive [i.e., Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive & Pay Now]) Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance

		Temporal Distance		Total	
		Near Future Distant Future		Total	χ2 / p
	Pay Now with Monetary Incentive	31 (44.9%)	16 (21.3%)	47 (32.6%)	
Payment Choice	Non-Pay Now with Monetary Incentive (i.e., Pay Now with Non- monetary Incentive & Pay Now)	38 (55.1%)	59 (78.7%)	97 (67.4%)	9.099 / 0.004**
	Total	69 (100.0%)	75 (100.0%)	144 (100.0%)	

Concerning the 'pay later' option, the significance of the chi-square test $(\chi 2=11.091, p < 0.01)$ indicated that a significantly larger proportion of participants in the "distant future" condition (53.3%, n = 75) selected the 'pay later' option than participants in the "near future" condition (26.1%, n = 69). Thus, H7c was confirmed. The distribution of cross-tabulated results is presented in Table 23.

Table 23

		Tempora	al Distance	Total	n^2/n
		Near Future	Distant Future	Total	λ2 / P
	Pay Later	18 (26.1%)	40 (53.3%)	58 (40.3%)	11.00
Payment Choice	Non-Pay Later (i.e., Pay Now with Non-monetary & Monetary Incentives	51 (73.9%)	35 (46.7%)	86 (59.7%)	11.09 1 / 0.001
	Total	69 (100.0%)	75 (100.0%)	144 (100.0%)	-114

Payment Choice (Pay Later vs. Non-Pay Later [i.e., Pay Now with Non-monetary & Monetary Incentives]) Cross-tabulated with Temporal Distance

The Effects of Temporal Distance and Payment Options on Perceived Financial Risk

The second objective of Study 2 was to examine whether payment options and temporal distance jointly influence consumers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks (H8a, H8b, and H8c). To test the hypotheses, a series of repeated measures ANOVAs were conducted with one between-subjects factor (temporal distance) and one within-subjects factor (payment options). In terms of perceived financial risk, the results revealed that the main effect of payment options was statistically significant (*F* (2, 282) = 12.112, *p* < .001, partial $\eta^2 = .079$). Participants perceived a significantly higher level of financial risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option; there was no significant difference in perceived financial risk between the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive = 3.54, *M* pay now with monetary incentive = 3.43 vs. *M* pay later = 2.83). The main effect of temporal distance was not, however, statistically significant (*M* near future = 3.18 vs. *M* distant future = 3.35, *F* (1,141) = .675, *p* = .413, partial $\eta^2 = .005$).

The repeated measures ANOVA results also showed a significant payment options × temporal distance interaction effect on perceived financial risk (F (1, 175) = 5.347, p < .01, partial $\eta 2 = .081$), confirming H8a. When temporal distance was relatively long, participants perceived a significantly higher financial risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option (M*pay now with non-monetary incentive- distant future* = 3.80, M *pay now with monetary incentive* = 3.60 vs. M *pay laterdistant future* = 2.642). However, when temporal distance was relatively short, participants exhibited no such difference in perceived financial risk (M *pay now with non-monetary incentive- near future* = 3.25, M *pay now with monetary incentive-near future* = 3.26 vs. M *pay later-near future* = 3.04). Table 24 presents the cell means and standard deviations and the interaction effect is visualized in Figure 7.

Table 24

Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Finical Risk by Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group

		Payment Options	
Group	Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive	Pay Now with Monetary Incentive	Pay Later
Near Future Group (n =	3.254	3.257	3.035
69)	(1.506)	(1.658)	(1.652)
Distant Future Group (n	3.804	3.597	2.642
= 74)	(1.546)	(1.681)	(1.518)

Note: Standard deviations are in parentheses.

Figure 7.

Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived



Financial Risk

The Effects of Temporal Distance and Payment Options on Perceived Psychological Risk

With regard to perceived psychological risk, the repeated measures ANOVA results showed that the main effect of payment options was statistically significant (*F* (2, 282) = 6.273, p < .01, partial $\eta 2 = .043$). These results indicated that participants perceived a significantly higher level of psychological risk from the 'pay now' with nonmonetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option (*M* _{Pay} _{Now} _{with} _{Non-} *Monetary Incentive* = 3.14, *M* _{Pay} _{Now} _{with} *Monetary Incentive* = 3.20 vs. *M* _{Pay} _{Later} = 2.66); there was no significant difference in perceived psychological risk between the 'pay now' with nonmonetary incentive option and the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option. The main effect of temporal distance was not, however, statistically significant (*M* near future = 2.96 vs. *M* distant future = 3.04, *F* (1,141) = .151, *p* = .698, partial η 2 = .001).

The results also revealed there was a significant payment options × temporal distance interaction effect on perceived psychological risk (F(2, 282) = 4.464, p < .05, partial $\eta 2 = .031$). These results support H8b and indicate that participants with a longer temporal distance perceived a significantly higher psychological risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option (M pay now with non-monetary incentive- distant future = 3.34, M pay now with monetary incentive-distant future = 3.37 vs. M pay later-distant future = 2.42). However, participants with a shorter temporal distance exhibited no such difference in perceived psychological risk (M pay now with non-monetary incentive-near future = 3.03 vs. M pay later-near future = 2.91). The cell means and standard deviations are displayed in Table 25 and the interaction effect is visualized in Figure 8.

Table 25

Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Psychological Risk by Payment Options

	Payment Options			
Group	Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive	Pay Now with Monetary Incentive	Pay Later	
Near Future Group (n =	2.942	3.029	2.908	
69)	(1.623)	(1.726)	(1.837)	
Distant future Group (n =	3.336	3.374	2.419	
74)	(1.756)	(1.731)	(1.734)	

and Temporal	Distance	Group
--------------	----------	-------

Note: Standard deviations are in parentheses.

Figure 8.

Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived



Psychological Risk

The Effects of Temporal Distance and Payment Options on Perceived Time Risk

In respect of perceived time risk, the repeated measures ANOVA revealed that the main effect of payment options was statistically significant (F(2, 282) = 12.112, p < .001, partial $\eta 2 = .079$), indicating that participants perceived a significantly higher level of time risk from the 'pay now' with non-monetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option; there was no significant difference in perceived time risk between the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option and the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option and the 'pay now' with monetary incentive = 3.22, *M pay now with monetary incentive* = 3.23 vs. *M pay later* = 2.79). The main effect of temporal distance was not statistically

significant (*M* near future = 3.02 vs. *M* distant future = 3.14, *F* (1,141) = .294, *p* = .589, partial $\eta 2$ = .002).

The repeated measures ANOVA results also showed a significant payment options × temporal distance interaction effect on perceived time risk (F(2, 282) = 6.131, p < .01, partial $\eta 2 = .042$). These results support H8c. In the "distant future" condition, participants perceived a significantly higher time risk from the 'pay now' with nonmonetary and monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option (M pay now with nonmonetary incentive- distant future = 3.48, M pay now with monetary incentive = 3.41 vs. M pay later-distant future = 2.53). However, in the "near future" condition, participants exhibited no such difference in perceived time risk (M pay now with non-monetary incentive- near future = 2.96, M pay now with monetary incentive-near future = 3.05 vs. M pay later-near future = 3.04). Table 26 presents the cell means and standard deviations and the interaction effect is visualized in Figure 9.

Table 26

Means and Standard Deviations of Perceived Time Risk by Payment Options and

	Payment Options			
Group	Pay Now with Non-monetary Incentive	Pay Now with Monetary Incentive	Pay Later	
Near Future Group (n =	2.957	3.051	3.043	
69)	(1.675)	(1.724)	(1.769)	
Distant future Group (n =	3.480	3.412	2.527	
74)	(1.772)	(1.873)	(1.643)	

Temporal Distance Group

Note: Standard deviations are in parentheses.

Figure 9.

Interaction Effect of Payment Options and Temporal Distance Group on Perceived Time



Risk

Discussion

Study 2 extends Study 1 by examining the role of temporal distance on consumers' payment option preferences and investigating the interaction effects between temporal distance and payment option type on consumers' perceived financial risk, psychological risk and time risk in situations where a hotel offers different payment options for a room at the same time. Study 2 reveals that people are more likely to choose the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option (i.e., less costs) when the travel time is in the near future than in the distant future. Monetary incentives can be regarded as low-level construed messages because they place the emphasis on 'costs', which indicate the feasibility of an event's outcome (i.e., the ease or difficulty of achieving the event outcome). When consumers encounter a message that is consistent with their mental representational state, they will give more weight to it. However, in terms of the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option (i.e., more gains), there is no such difference between the 'near future' and 'distant future' conditions. One plausible explanation for the null effect could be due to the fact that Study 2 presented the 'pay later' option with the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option. From a prospect theory (Kahneman & Tversky, 1979) perspective, delays in payments such as 'pay later' are considered as gains (i.e., additional benefits) and non-monetary incentives also focus on 'gains', which represent the desirability of an event's outcome. Although both the 'pay later' and 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive options focus on 'gains', people may perceive relatively more gains from the 'pay later' option than the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option in the "distant future" condition because of higher perceived risks caused by long temporal distance from the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option.

In addition, the results of Study 2 reveal that there are no significant differences in payment option preferences between the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive and 'pay now' with monetary incentive options, especially when temporal distance is relatively long. These findings suggest that non-monetary incentives may not significantly affect consumers' payment choice preferences even when temporal distance is relatively long. One possible reason could be that price is one of the most important attributes in purchase decision-making (Chiang & Jang, 2007; Kim et al., 2006; Rheem,

81

2010). This fact may attenuate the effect of temporal distance on consumers' payment option preferences for the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive option.

The results also suggest that when a hotel offers different payment options for the same room at the same time, consumers' perceived risks of the payment options could be affected by the other payment options. Interestingly, unlike Study 1, the results of Study 2 reveal that people perceive even less risks from the 'pay later' option in the 'distant future' condition than in the 'near future' condition. In Study 1, there were no differences in perceived risks from the 'pay later' option between the "near future" and "distant future" conditions. One speculation for this unexpected result is that people may perceive relatively less risks from the 'pay later' option due to the presence of the other 'pay now' options which lead to perceived higher risks in the 'distant future' condition than in the 'near future' condition.

CHAPTER V

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Overview

This chapter includes four sections. The first section provides a summary of the major findings of this two-study dissertation research. In the second section, theoretical contributions of the research are presented. The third section discusses managerial implications of the findings. This chapter concludes with limitations and recommendations for future research.

Summary of Findings

The overall purposes of this dissertation research are 1) to examine how consumers' booking decision-making process changes based on temporal distance when payments are delayed to the future (i.e., 'pay later') without paying a premium (Study 1), and 2) to investigate how temporal distance and incentive types influence consumers' payment preferences and perceived risks when the delayed payments involve paying a premium (Study 2).

In Study 1, the research 1) investigates whether delays in payments (i.e., pay later) influence consumers' perceived price, purchase intention, and perceived financial, psychological, and time risks; and 2) examines whether temporal distance moderates such relationships. The results indicate that consumers perceive significantly lower financial, psychological, and time risks, and greater purchase intention when payments are delayed to the future. Study 1 also demonstrates that temporal distance moderates the effects of delays in payments on perceived financial, psychological, and time risks, and purchase intention. The results reveal that the effect of delays in payments is limited to situations when the travel time is in the distant future. These findings suggest that 'pay later' may not necessarily decrease consumers' perceived risks or increase purchase intention when the travel time is in the relatively near future, in conformity with the notion that the more delays in payments, the more benefits one perceives (Siemens, 2007).

In Study 2, the research examines the role of temporal distance on consumers' payment option preferences. The results support the hypothesis such that consumers' payment option preferences are influenced by temporal distance. In accordance with the matching effect between temporal distance and message construal level, when the travel time is in the near future, consumers prefer the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option. That is because temporally proximal consumers give more weight to feasibility concerns than desirability concerns. However, when the travel time is in the distant future, this preference for the 'pay now' with monetary incentive option decreases significantly, and consumers prefer the 'pay later' option. Next, Study 2 investigates the interaction effects between temporal distance and payment options on consumers' perceived risks. The results indicate that consumers with a longer temporal distance perceive significantly higher risks from the 'pay now' with non-monetary incentive and

84

monetary incentive options than the 'pay later' option. However, consumers with a shorter temporal distance exhibit no such differences in perceived risks.

Theoretical Contributions

This dissertation research provides several important theoretical contributions. First, the findings contribute to the understanding of the impact of delays in payments on consumers' perceived risks. When it comes to delays in benefits (i.e., gains), the previous research has considered their risk aspects (Bixter & Luhmann, 2011; Patak & Reynolds, 2007; Takahashi, Ikeda, & Hasegawa, 2007). For instance, if offered \$100 today or \$120 in a year, people may give more weight to the \$100 because it is a sure thing, while the future is inherently unpredictable and uncertain. In this case, possible risks can be considered are a) the promised money may never arrive or b) one might die before receiving it (Hardisty et al., 2013). However, the previous literature of delays in payments (i.e., losses) mainly focused on the cost and behavioral aspects, such as people's discount rates for present versus future losses (Benhabib et al., 2010) and choice between immediate and delayed payments (Hardisty et al., 2013), and consumer researchers have paid little attention to these risks aspects of delays in payments. This approach has limits in analyzing the 'book now, pay later' transactions because of the inherent characteristics of the hotel industry (e.g., perishability – consumers cannot store their unused hotel rooms). Specifically, consumers' perceived risks from the 'pay now' or 'pay later' transaction may vary depending on their temporal distance between the time of booking and the time of arrival. By investigating this dynamic 'book now, pay

later' transaction, this dissertation provides a better understanding of how delays in payments influence online hotel bookers' perceived financial, psychological, and time risks.

Second, this dissertation research extends transaction de-coupling (i.e., buy now, pay later) literature by examining situations where delays in payments require a premium (i.e., higher price) in the online hotel booking setting. The majority of the previous studies on transaction de-coupling have mainly focused on the delays in payments which do not require any fees for 'pay later' (e.g., Siemens, 2007; Gourville & Soman, 1998). In other words, they did not consider the dynamic value of 'pay later' depending on the temporal distance. However, in many cases in the context of hospitality and tourism, service providers either charge a premium for 'pay later' or give an incentive for 'pay now', and consumers' perceptions of 'pay later' may be different based on how long they can delay their payment. In spite of that, there has been scant attention to how people react in these situations. The current dissertation research attempts to fill this gap by investigating the 'pay later' situations that require a higher cost for delaying (i.e., paying a premium). This dissertation research represents a critical step toward understanding how people perceive 'pay later' with a premium according to their time of booking. Moreover, this research extends transaction de-coupling (decoupling effect) literature by investigating coupling effect in the online hotel booking context. In the case of ordinary retail products, transaction benefits and costs occurred temporally together, and decoupling effect (e.g., buy now, pay later) happens when payment of a good (or consumption benefits) temporally precedes transaction costs (Siemens, 2007). However, in the context of hotel bookings, costs generally precede consumption benefits (i.e.,

86

staying at a hotel), and the 'book now, pay later' transactions happen when a payment is coupled with the consumption of a benefit (i.e., payment at the property). Therefore, the retail products' approach has limits in analyzing the 'book now, pay later' transactions because of the nature of the hotel industry. To date, consumer researchers have largely ignored how these coupled transactions influence consumers' perceptions and behavioral intent, and whether temporal distance influences such relationships.

Finally, this dissertation provides important implications for research on construal level theory (CLT) by investigating incentive types in the online hotel booking context. One of the most cited findings in the CLT literature is shifts in weighing for desirability and feasibility (Liberman & Trope, 1998), and they have been applied to studies on incentive type. Chou and Lien (2012) have shown that when the promoted travel destination is spatially distant, people prefer non-monetary incentives; when the travel destination is spatially near, however, monetary incentives can generate better advertising effectiveness. In reality, consumers may face not only the non-monetary versus monetary incentive options but also other purchase options simultaneously such as 'pay later'. This dissertation extends Chou and Lien's (2012) findings and suggests that the wellestablished shift in the weighing of desirability/feasibility attributes between nonmonetary and monetary incentives could not be observed when there is another option with the incentives. This research demonstrates that when a hotel offers different payment options for the same room at the same time, consumers' preferences for the payment options and perceived risks from them could be affected by other payment options.

87

Managerial Implications

There are several important practical implications of this dissertation research. First, the findings can guide hotel providers on how they can effectively use the 'book now, pay later' option. By providing empirical evidence for the moderating role of temporal distance, this dissertation helps hotel marketers better assess how much the 'book now, pay later' option is worth to a consumer's perceived price and booking decisions over time. The findings suggest that the role of 'pay later' in driving hotel bookings may be limited to temporally distal situations, and hotel rooms that are temporally proximal may not require the 'pay later' option to lure consumers. When the date of arrival is in the distant future, marketers may provide the 'pay later' option instead of a price discount in order to encourage advance booking and ensure its profitability. The results demonstrate that the 'pay later' option is more preferable to other incentive options (i.e., monetary or non-monetary incentive) when the date of check-in is temporally distant. However, when the date of arrival is in the near future, the 'pay later' option may not lead to lower perceived price nor higher booking intention. If the difference between 'pay now' and 'pay later' is not significant under these situations (e.g., last-minute bookings), it would be better for service providers who offer the free 'pay later' option regardless of a customer's booking time to consider not doing so. In this context, hotel marketers should not overuse the free 'book now, pay later' option in order to lock in their customers. Specifically, marketers could consider hotel bookers' temporal distance to customize payment options. An appropriate payment option can be displayed as a default when booking website visitors search for available

rooms by typing in the period of their intended stay. This can be done when marketers recognize the dynamic value of the 'pay later' option depending on the time of booking.

Second, this dissertation research provides helpful suggestions on the use of incentives for the 'pay now' option. As discussed earlier, since the 'pay later' option requires no financial commitment, it might lead to negative consequences such as noshows or last-minute cancellations. Thus, it is valuable to understand the preferred kinds of incentives (monetary versus non-monetary) for potential consumers based on their temporal distance in order to effectively encourage the 'pay now' option. Possible guidance for service providers could be that if the date of arrival is temporally imminent, they may provide monetary incentives to encourage consumers to choose the 'pay now' option based on the results of the research. In contrast, if the date of arrival is temporally distant, marketers may provide non-monetary incentives instead of monetary incentives (i.e., price discounts) to promote the 'pay now' option. For example, the catchline "Enjoy complimentary breakfast when selecting Pay Now" might be a clever sales strategy when dealing with consumers with a long temporal distance. Service providers thereby may have a better profit margin on the 'pay now' option since the actual net costs of non-monetary incentives (e.g., free upgrade or complimentary breakfast) are substantially less than the prices consumers pay for those services or products. In addition, the results suggest that the ubiquitous lure of incentive may not be as universal as often assumed. Incentives are frequently used to boost their sales and influence consumers' purchase decisions (Shi et al., 2005). However, the research demonstrates that incentives may not necessarily drive consumers' preferences for 'pay now' if the date of arrival is temporally distant. In such situations, marketers may provide the 'pay

later' option along with the 'pay now' option. Otherwise, temporally distant consumers may shy away from 'pay now' and never return to the room listing because the timing of the decision is a crucial factor in payment option choice.

Lastly, the current dissertation helps hotel marketers better understand consumers' perceived risks from each payment option according to the time of booking. Given the perishable nature of the hotel industry, where consumers cannot store their unused rooms, it is important to know how they perceive possible risks based on their time of booking in order to act upon their perceived risks. The findings suggest that when booking, consumers may perceive less risks from the 'pay later' option in the 'distant future' condition (e.g., six months before arrival) than in the 'near future' condition (e.g., one week before arrival) although the greater temporal distance from the date of arrival intensifies consumers' perceived risks. Therefore, when the arrival date is temporally far, marketers may place an emphasis on the psychological aspects of the 'pay later' option in order to encourage consumers to make advance bookings because the greater temporal distance consumers have, the less risks (the more benefits) they may perceive from the 'pay later' option. For example, marketers may advertise risk-focused selling points, such as "This risk-free option gives you more flexibility and peace of mind!" However, the findings demonstrate that neither of the two types of incentives for the 'pay now' option decreases consumers' level of perceived risks. Therefore, this dissertation suggests that incentives for the 'pay now' option may not necessarily influence consumers' subsequent purchase intentions if their travel time is in the relatively distant future. By understanding these perceived risk aspects in the booking process, marketers are able to establish dynamic and effective strategies for early bookers.

90

Limitations

As with other research, this dissertation is not without its limitations. First, this research has several limitations to generalize the results as the scenarios set specific contexts for the experiments. Firstly, the findings are tied to the three-star hotels (uppermidscale) that this research used for the scenarios. Their target group would be average income consumers who are price-sensitive and care about incentives and the 'pay later' option. However, luxury or economy hotel guests may have different perceptions of incentives and delays in payments. Thus, it remains to be determined whether the same pattern of results would generalize to other hotel segments. Secondly, temporal distance was manipulated at only two levels in the experiments (i.e., one week or six months). Although the temporal distance manipulation was adopted from previous studies (Choi et al., 2019; Liberman et al., 2002; Stephan et al., 2011), it may have limits in analyzing the entire dynamic pattern of consumers' perceptions and behaviors over time. Thirdly, this study chose two of the most well-known U.S. cities for the scenarios, and participants were limited to people who were currently living in the United States to make sure every participant feels familiar with the travel destinations. Nevertheless, it is possible that where they live might have influenced their responses. For example, if a participant was living near New York City, which was the travel destination of Study 1, that participant would perceive less risks or have less preference for the 'pay later' option. Fourthly, the time of booking may depend on the travel destination. For example, international travel and specific popular places such as major amusement parks or the Grand Canyon are more likely to require people to book early. Therefore, people may show different perceptions and purchase intentions toward other travel destinations other than the two

domestic places used in the scenarios. Lastly, this research mainly examined one hotel customer segment, leisure travelers, to test the hypotheses. Thus, one should be cautious about generalizing the results to other customer types such as business travelers. Although around 80% of U.S. domestic trips are taken for leisure purposes (U.S. Travel Association, 2020), leisure travelers' common perceptions and behaviors about their bookings may not be applicable to all types of hotel guests. For instance, in general, leisure travelers tend to be more price-sensitive than business travelers (Knutson, 1988). The characteristics of leisure travelers may have influenced the results of this research.

Second, the data used in the analyses for the current research may be derived from non-representative samples, and this could limit the generalizability of the results. The data was collected through an online crowd-sourcing platform, Amazon Mechanical Turk (MTurk), and prior research indicates that the quality of data provided by MTurk satisfies or exceeds the psychometric standards associated with published research (Buhrmester et al., 2011). However, only people who signed up for the website and were qualified as "Master Workers" had a chance to participate. Thus, important viewpoints or key data may have ended up not being reflected in the final data set. Moreover, MTurk samples may have a limitation with regard to habitual responding, given the fact that the primary reason for participating in MTurk studies is monetary compensation (Litman et al., 2015). Therefore, a fair proportion of MTurk workers may rush through a study to just receive their financial compensation and maximize their pay/time ratio. This fact may have affected the quality of participants' answers, although the current research employed attention and manipulation checks in the online experiments to make sure the participants were doing their best.

Finally, the limitations of a repeated measures design should also be acknowledged. This dissertation research employed the repeated measures design for Study 2 to simulate reality as accurately as possible because, in reality, a typical OTA webpage or individual hotel website shows multiple payment options (e.g., 'pay now' or 'pay later') at the same time. A repeated measures design (within-subjects) has some drawbacks compared to designs that have independent groups (between-subjects). One of the main disadvantages is known as "order effects", and they are incurred by exposing the subjects to multiple treatments. Order effects are associated with the sequence that treatments are exposed but not due to the treatment itself. To address this issue, this research employed the randomization procedure, in which repeated assessments are carried out in a random order determined separately for each participant or order group. Nonetheless, a possible limitation of employing the randomization procedure could be the fact that in reality hotel booking websites usually do not present their payment options in a random sequence. In addition, there is another limitation of using a repeated measures design compared to a design that has independent groups. For example, regardless of the randomization procedure, participants needed to answer a fair amount of questions because they were exposed to three treatments (i.e., the three payment options in Study 2) in a row. This fact may have influenced the quality of data gathered.

Recommendations for Future Research

There are several fertile avenues for future research. First, future studies can look into other factors that may influence consumers' perceived risks and purchase intention to understand the boundary conditions. The current research examined what types of payment options were preferable mainly for U.S. domestic travelers and how they perceived risks from the payment options based on their temporal distance. However, international travelers may have different characteristics due to their relatively long spatial distance from the travel destination compared to domestic travelers. For example, international travelers may rely more on hotel brand familiarity and book their room in advance because they tend to perceive more risks compared to domestic travelers. Thus, future research could investigate the effects of spatial distance (i.e., international vs. domestic travel) and brand familiarity (i.e., well-known international chain hotel vs. lesser-known local hotel) on consumers' perceptions and behaviors. Given the fact that the international travel market is projected to grow further, research efforts to understand how the characteristics of international travelers are distinct from domestic travelers would be essential.

Second, future research could be enriched using multiple sources of data and research methods. The current research used an online crowd-sourcing platform to conduct the online experiments. Future research could utilize a triangulation method to address the possible shortcomings of any single approach. Triangulation is defined as the use of multiple methods and data sources in the study of the same phenomenon (Denzin, 1978). Additional studies could be conducted in traditional laboratory settings (face-toface populations) as well as Internet-based experiment settings (online populations). Although online populations have many advantages such as easier access to various populations and larger sample sizes, face-to-face populations may provide distinguishing advantages to make-up the shortcomings of using online populations. For example, the ability for a researcher to verbally guide participants and answer questions throughout the experiment process may significantly enhance participants' understanding of the task they need to complete. However, this communication becomes much more difficult online in situations where the researchers and participants never meet (Crump et al., 2013). Moreover, another possible method as a triangulation approach is to use realworld data from a hotel or OTA company. The comparison between secondary data and primary data could provide an effective means to triangulate the findings of the experimental data and offer a more longitudinal and comprehensive understanding of a phenomenon.

Lastly, one interesting area for future investigations could be to explore how airline customers' perceptions of the 'book now, pay later' option change over time. Although the airline industry's pricing mechanisms are much more complicated than those of the hotel industry, the two industries have a lot in common. Both of their customers book in advance and timing has an important role in their decision-making process. Because of these similarities, hotel revenue management originated from the airline industry. However, the 'book now, pay later' practice in the airline industry may be different from that of the hotel industry. For example, the airline industry's 'pay later' option allows consumers to delay their payment for a certain period of time (e.g., six months). Therefore, consumers may not necessarily need to pay for their flight when they check-in. These differences and similarities between the two industries are expected to offer a fertile avenue for future research.

REFERENCES

Ainslie, G. (2001). Breakdown of will. Cambridge University Press.

- Ainslie, G. (2016). The cardinal anomalies that led to behavioral economics: Cognitive or motivational?. *Managerial and Decision Economics*, *37*(4-5), 261-273.
- Amaro, S., Andreu, L., & Huang, S. (2019). Millenials' intentions to book on Airbnb. *Current Issues in Tourism*, 22(18), 2284-2298.
- Anderson, R.E., & Srinivasan, S.S. (2003). e-Satisfaction and e-loyalty: A contingency framework. *Psychology & Marketing*, 20(2), 123–138
- Armstrong, G., & Kotler, P. (2003). *Marketing: An introduction*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Bar-Anan, Y., Liberman, N., & Trope, Y. (2006). The association between psychological distance and construal level: Evidence from.
- Benhabib, J., Bisin, A., & Schotter, A. (2010). Present-bias, quasi-hyperbolic discounting, and fixed costs. *Games and Economic Behavior*, 69(2), 205-223.
- Biucky, S. T., & Harandi, S. R. (2017). The effects of perceived risk on social commerce adoption based on tam model. " *International Journal of Electronic Commerce Studies*", 8(2), 173-196.

- Buhrmester, M. D., Kwang, T., & Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's mechanical Turk: a new source of inexpensive, yet high quality data. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 6(1), 3–5.
- Campbell, L., & Diamond, W. D. (1990). Framing and sales promotions: The characteristics of a "good deal ". *Journal of Consumer Marketing*.
- Carstensen, L. L. (2006). The influence of a sense of time on human development. *Science*, *312*(5782), 1913-1915.
- Chen, C. C., Schwartz, Z., & Vargas, P. (2011). The search for the best deal: How hotel cancellation policies affect the search and booking decisions of deal-seeking customers. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 30(1), 129-135.
- Chen, C., & Schwartz, Z. (2008). Room rate patterns and customers' propensity to book a hotel room. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*.
- Chen, I. J., Gupta, A., & Rom, W. (1994). A study of price and quality in service operations. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 5(2), 23-33.
- Chen, Z., & Dubinsky, A.J. (2003). A conceptual model of perceived customer value in e-commerce: A preliminary investigation. *Psychology & Marketing*, 20(4), 323–347.
- Chiang, C. F., & Jang, S. S. (2007). The effects of perceived price and brand image on value and purchase intention: Leisure travelers' attitudes toward online hotel booking. *Journal of Hospitality & Leisure Marketing*, 15(3), 49-69.
- Choi, J., Bolton, D. E., & Grishin, M. (2019). The moderating effect of temporal distance on partitioned vs combined pricing. *Journal of Consumer Marketing*.

- Chou, H. Y., & Lien, N. H. (2012). The effects of incentive types and appeal regulatory framing in travel advertising. *The Service Industries Journal*, *32*(6), 883-897.
- Corbin, J., & Strauss, A. (2014). *Basics of qualitative research: Techniques and* procedures for developing grounded theory. Sage publications.
- Crompton, J. L. (2016). Implications of Prospect Theory for the Pricing of Leisure Services. *Leisure Sciences*, *38*(4), 315-337.
- Cronin, J.J., Brady, M.K., & Hult, G.T. (2000). Assessing the effects of quality, value, and customer satisfaction on consumer behavioural intentions in service environments. *Journal of Retailing*, 76(2), 193–218.
- Crump, M. J., McDonnell, J. V., & Gureckis, T. M. (2013). Evaluating Amazon's Mechanical Turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. *PloS* one, 8(3), e57410.
- Cunningham, L. F., Gerlach, J. H., Harper, M. D., & Young, C. E. (2005). Perceived risk and the consumer buying process: Internet airline reservations. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*, 16(4), 357-372.
- Cunningham, M. S. (1967). The major dimensions of perceived risk. *Risk taking and information handling in consumer behavior*.

Cushman & Wakefield (2019). U.S. Lodging Industiry Overview. <u>https://www.cushmanwakefield.com/-/media/cw/americas/united-</u> <u>states/insights/research-report-pdfs/2019/va_hospitality_us-lodging-</u> <u>overview_mar2019_final.pdf</u>
- Daedal Research (2019). *Global Business Travel Market: Size, Trends and Forecast* (2019-2023). <u>https://www.marketresearch.com/Daedal-Research-v3440/Global-</u> <u>Business-Travel-Size-Trends-12303615/</u>
- Denzin, N.K. (1978). The Research Act: A Theoretical Introduction to Sociological Methods. McGraw-Hill.
- Dowling, G. R. (1986). Perceived risk: the concept and its measurement. *Psychology & Marketing*, *3*(3), 193-210.
- Dowling, G. R., & Staelin, R. (1994). A model of perceived risk and intended riskhandling activity. *Journal of consumer research*, *21*(1), 119-134.
- Featherman, M. S., & Pavlou, P. A. (2003). Predicting e-services adoption: a perceived risk facets perspective. *International journal of human-computer studies*, 59(4), 451-474.
- Fergusson, A., Ahlqvist, S.R., & Smith, E. (2017). *Is Airbnb Safe? We Analyzed 1021 Horror Stories to Find Out*. https://www.asherfergusson.com/airbnb/
- Fishbein, M., & Ajzen, I. (1975). *Belief, attitude, intention and behavior: An introduction to theory and research*. Addison-Wesley.
- Fortune (2020). *Buy now, pay later: How COVID-19 is aiding the payment model.* https://fortune.com/2020/08/31/paypal-buy-now-pay-later-financing-covid-19/
- Fram, E. H., & McCarthy, M. S. (1999). The true price of penalties. *Marketing Management*, 8(3), 48.
- Gourville, J. T., & Soman, D. (1998). Payment depreciation: The behavioral effects of temporally separating payments from consumption. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 25(2), 160-174.

- Hair, J. F., Anderson, R. E., Babin, B. J., & Black, W. C. (2010). Multivariate data analysis: A global perspective (Vol. 7). Pearson.
- Hanley, M., Becker, M., & Martinsen, J. (2006). Factors influencing mobile advertising acceptance: will incentives motivate college students to accept mobile advertisements. *International Journal of Mobile Marketing*, 1(1), 50-58.
- Hardisty, D. J., Appelt, K. C., & Weber, E. U. (2013). Good or bad, we want it now:Fixed-cost present bias for gains and losses explains magnitude asymmetries in intertemporal choice. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 26(4), 348-361.
- Hotel Online (2018). *No-Shows and Last Minute Cancellations Are a Hoteliers' worst nightmare*. <u>https://www.hotel-online.com/press_release/release/no-shows-and-last-minute-cancellations-are-a-hoteliers-worst-nightmare-hot/</u>
- Jacoby, J., & Kaplan, L. B. (1972). The components of perceived risk. ACR Special Volumes.
- Kahneman, D., & Tversky, A. (1979). Prospect theory: An analysis of decision under risk. *Econometrica: Journal of the econometric society*, 263-291
- Keaveney, S. M. (1995). Customer switching behavior in service industries: An exploratory study. *Journal of marketing*, *59*(2), 71-82.
- Kim, H., Rao, A. R., & Lee, A. Y. (2009). It's time to vote: The effect of matching message orientation and temporal frame on political persuasion. *Journal of Consumer Research*, 35(6), 877-889.
- Kim, J., Kim, P. B., & Kim, J. E. (2018). Impacts of temporal and gender difference on hotel selection process. *Journal of Hospitality Marketing & Management*, 1-22.

- Kim, J., Kim, P. B., Kim, J. E., & Magnini, V. P. (2016). Application of construal-level theory to promotional strategies in the hotel industry. *Journal of Travel Research*, 55(3), 340-352.
- Kim, M. K., Chang, Y., Wong, S. F., & Park, M. C. (2015). The effect of perceived risks and switching barriers on the intention to use smartphones among non-adopters in Korea. *Information Development*, 31(3), 258-269.
- Kim, W. G., Ma, X., & Kim, D. J. (2006). Determinants of Chinese hotel customers'esatisfaction and purchase intentions. *Tourism management*, 27(5), 890-900.
- Knutson, B. J. (1988). Frequent travelers: Making them happy and bringing them back. Cornell Hotel and Restaurant Administration Quarterly, 29(1), 82-87.
- LeBoeuf, R. A. (2006). Discount rates for time versus dates: The sensitivity of discounting to time-interval description. *Journal of Marketing Research*, 43(1), 59-72.
- Lee, M. C. (2009). Factors influencing the adoption of internet banking: An integration of TAM and TPB with perceived risk and perceived benefit. *Electronic commerce research and applications*, 8(3), 130-141.
- Liberman, N., & Trope, Y. (1998). The role of feasibility and desirability considerations in near and distant future decisions: A test of temporal construal theory. *Journal of personality and social psychology*, 75(1), 5.
- Liberman, N., Sagristano, M. D., & Trope, Y. (2002). The effect of temporal distance on level of mental construal. *Journal of experimental social psychology*, 38(6), 523-534.

- Lien, C. H., Wen, M. J., Huang, L. C., & Wu, K. L. (2015). Online hotel booking: The effects of brand image, price, trust and value on purchase intentions. *Asia Pacific Management Review*, 20(4), 210-218.
- Litman, L., Robinson, J., & Rosenzweig, C. (2015). The relationship between motivation, monetary compensation, and data quality among US-and India-based workers on Mechanical Turk. *Behavior research methods*, 47(2), 519-528.
- Manski, C.F. (1990). The use of intentions data to predict behavior: A best-case analysis. Journal of the American Statistical Association, 85 (412), 934-940.
- Martin, B. A., Gnoth, J., & Strong, C. (2009). Temporal construal in advertising. *Journal* of Advertising, 38(3), 5-20.
- Morwitz, V. (1997). Why consumers don't always accurately predict their own future behavior. *Marketing Letters*, 8(1), 57-70.
- Oh, L. B., & Xu, H. (2003). Effects of multimedia on mobile consumer behavior: An empirical study of location-aware advertising. *ICIS 2003 Proceedings*, 56.
- Park, J., Lee, D., & Ahn, J. (2004). Risk-focused e-commerce adoption model: A crosscountry study. *Journal of Global Information Technology Management*, 7(2), 6-30.
- Park, S., & Tussyadiah, I. P. (2017). Multidimensional facets of perceived risk in mobile travel booking. *Journal of Travel Research*, *56*(7), 854-867.
- Patak, M., & Reynolds, B. (2007). Question-based assessments of delay discounting: Do respondents spontaneously incorporate uncertainty into their valuations for delayed rewards?. *Addictive behaviors*, 32(2), 351-357.

- Petty, R. E., & Wegener, D. T. (1998). Matching versus mismatching attitude functions: Implications for scrutiny of persuasive messages. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 24(3), 227-240.
- Phillips, R. L. (2005). Pricing and revenue optimization. Stanford University Press.
- Prelec, D., & Loewenstein, G. (1998). The red and the black: Mental accounting of savings and debt. *Marketing science*, 17(1), 4-28.
- Pura, M. (2005). Linking perceived value and loyalty in location-based mobile services. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 15(6), 509-538.
- Reber, R., Schwarz, N., & Winkielman, P. (2004). Processing fluency and aesthetic pleasure: Is beauty in the perceiver's processing experience?. *Personality and social psychology review*, 8(4), 364-382.
- Rheem, C. (2010). Consumer response to travel site performance. *A PhoCusWright and Akamai WHITEPAPER*, 2.
- Ryu, K., & Han, H. (2010). Influence of the quality of food, service, and physical environment on customer satisfaction and behavioral intention in quick-casual restaurants: Moderating role of perceived price. *Journal of Hospitality & Tourism Research*, *34*(3), 310-329.
- Samuelson, P. A. (1937). A note on measurement of utility. *The review of economic studies*, *4*(2), 155-161.

Schiffman, L. G., & Kanuk, L. L. (2000). Consumer Behavior (7th ed.). Prentice Hall.

- Shi, Y. Z., Cheung, K. M., & Prendergast, G. (2005). Behavioural response to sales promotion tools: a Hong Kong study. *International Journal of advertising*, 24(4), 469-489.
- Siemens, J. C. (2007). When consumption benefits precede costs: towards an understanding of 'buy now, pay later' transactions. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 20(5), 521-531.
- Sojern (2016). Q3 2016 Global Travel Insights. Sojern.
- Soman, D., & Gourville, J. T. (2001). Transaction decoupling: How price bundling affects the decision to consume. *Journal of Marketing Research*, *38*(1), 30-44.
- Song, M., Noone, B. M., & Han, R. J. (2019). An examination of the role of booking lead time in consumers' reactions to online scarcity messages. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 77, 483-491.
- Spears, N., & Singh, S.N. (2004). Measuring attitude toward the brand and purchase intentions. *Journal of Current Issues and Research in Advertising*, 26(2), 53-66.
- Stephan, E., Liberman, N., & Trope, Y. (2011). The effects of time perspective and level of construal on social distance. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 47(2), 397-402.
- Takahashi, T., Ikeda, K., & Hasegawa, T. (2007). A hyperbolic decay of subjective probability of obtaining delayed rewards. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 3(1), 52.

- Teng, C. C., & Chang, J. H. (2014). Effects of temporal distance and related strategies on enhancing customer participation intention for hotel eco-friendly programs. *International Journal of Hospitality Management*, 40, 92-99.
- Thang, D. D. (2008). Factors Affecting Consumers' Purchase Intention in Vietnam

Helmet Market. 成功大學國際經營管理研究所碩士班學位論文, 1-113.

TripAdvisor (2019). Reserve Now & Pay Later: Giving Travelers Payment Flexibility to Encourage More Advanced Bookings for Operators.

https://www.tripadvisor.com/ExperiencesInsights/e35507

- TripSavvy (2020). Reserving a Room: Advance Deposits. https://www.tripsavvy.com/advance-deposit-1895484
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. (2003). Temporal construal. *Psychological review*, *110*(3), 403.
- Trope, Y., & Liberman, N. (2010). Construal-level theory of psychological distance. *Psychological review*, 117(2), 440.
- Trope, Y., Liberman, N., & Wakslak, C. (2007). Construal levels and psychological distance: Effects on representation, prediction, evaluation, and behavior. *Journal* of consumer psychology, 17(2), 83-95.
- U.S. Travel Association (2020). U.S. Travel Answer Sheet. https://www.ustravel.org/answersheet
- Vallacher, R. R., & Wegner, D. M. (2014). A theory of action identification. Psychology Press.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A

Instrument of Study 1

Are you over the age of 18?

A) Yes

B) No

Are you currently living in the USA?

A) Yes

B) No

Please consider the following scenario.

<Pay Now – Near Future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a vacation to Los Angeles and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be **in one week.** You search online and find Hotel LA has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You are also willing to pay the quoted room rate which is \$139/night. You notice that this hotel only offers the 'non-refundable' option - If you book this room now, you have to **pay now.** If you cancel your reservation, your credit card will be charged in full.



<Pay Now – Distant Future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a vacation to Los Angeles and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be <u>in six months.</u> You search online and find Hotel LA has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You are also willing to pay the quoted room rate which is \$139/night. You notice that this hotel only offers the 'non-refundable' option - If you book this room now, you have to <u>pay now</u>. If you cancel your reservation, your credit card will be charged in full.

Hotel LA ★★★	Excellent 2,238 reviews 9.0			
Room Type	Today's Price	Your Choices	Select Rooms	
 King Room 1 king bed Total 	\$139	• Non-refundable	0 •	I'll reserve

<Pay Later – Near Future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a vacation to Los Angeles and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be <u>in one week.</u> You search online and find Hotel LA has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You are also willing to pay the quoted room rate which is \$139/night. You notice that this hotel offers the 'Book Now, Pay Later' option - If you book this room now, you can <u>pay later at the property.</u> You can cancel your reservation for free up to 48 hours before arrival.



<Pay Later – Distant Future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a vacation to Los Angeles and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be <u>in six months.</u> You search online and find Hotel LA has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You are also willing to pay the quoted room rate which is \$139/night. You notice that this hotel offers the 'Book Now, Pay Later' option - If you book this room now, you can <u>pay later at the property.</u> You can cancel your reservation for free up to 48 hours before arrival.



Please answer the following questions after carefully considering all of the facts outlined in this scenario.

Q1. Based on the scenario, a message regarding payment shown on the OTA website is: _____

- A) Non-refundable (Pay Now).
- B) Reserve now, pay when you stay (Pay Later).
- C) I do not remember.

Q2. Based on the scenario, your stay would occur _____.

- A) A week from now.
- B) Six months from now.
- C) I do not remember.

Q3. Considering a potential cancellation from the time of your booking to your scheduled check-in date, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

1.	Booking the hotel room would be an inappropriate way to spend money.	Stu 1	rongly 2	disagi 3	ree 4	Stron 5	gly ag 6	ree 7
2.	If I booked the hotel room, I would be concerned that the financial investment would not be wise.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	If I booked the hotel room, I would be concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
4.	Booking the hotel room would not provide value for the money I spent.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Q4. Considering a potential cancellation from the time of your booking to your scheduled check-in date, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

		Sti	ongly	disagı	ee	Stron	gly ag	ree
1.	The thought of booking the room makes me feel uncomfortable.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
2.	The thought of booking the room gives me a feeling of anxiety.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	The thought of booking the room causes me to experience tension.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Q5. Considering a potential cancellation from the time of your booking to your scheduled check-in date, please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

1.	Booking the hotel room could lead to an inefficient use of my time.	St 1	rongly 2	disag 3	ree 4	Stror 5	ngly ag 6	gree 7
2.	Booking the hotel room would take too much time / be a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	This is an attention filter. Please select 'Strongly disagree' for this statement.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

Q6. Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

		Stron	gly di	sagree	e		Str	ongly	
					agree				
1.	The room price is inexpensive.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
2.	The room price is reasonable.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
3.	The room price is appropriate.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
4.	The room price is affordable.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	

Q7. Please indicate your level of agreement with the following statements.

		Stroi	ngly di	sagree	•	Stror	ngly ag	ree
1.	After reviewing the information, the probability that I	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
	would book this hotel is high.							
2.	I would consider booking this room at the price shown.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7
3.	My willingness to book this hotel is high.	1	2	3	4	5	6	7

1. What is your gender?

- A) Male
- B) Female
- C) Trans male
- D) Trans female
- E) Gender Variant
- F) Not Listed: _____

2. How old are you?

A) 18 - 25
B) 26 - 35
C) 36 - 45
D) 46 - 55
E) 56 - 65
F) 66 and over

3. What is your combined annual household income?

- A) \$19,999 or less
- B) \$20,000 \$39,999
- C) \$40,000 \$79,999
- D) \$80,000 \$119,999
- E) \$120,000 \$159,999
- F) \$160,000 \$199,999
- G) \$200,000 and over

4. What is your highest level of education?

- A) High School
- B) Associate's Degree
- C) Bachelor's Degree
- D) Graduate Degree
- E) Other Education:

5. Please indicate how many times you have stayed at hotels for leisure purposes in the last twelve months?

- A) None
- B) 1-2 times
- C) 3-4 times
- D) 5-6 times
- D) More than 6 times

6. Please indicate how many times you have made online hotel reservations in the last twelve months?

- A) None
- B) 1-2 times
- C) 3-4 times
- D) 5-6 times
- D) More than 6 times

APPENDIX B

Instrument of Study 2

Are you over the age of 18? A) Yes B) No

Are you currently living in the United States?

A) Yes B) No

Please consider the following scenario.

<Near Future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a solo leisure trip to New York City and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be <u>in one week</u>. You search online and find Hotel NYC has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You notice that for the same rate this hotel has three different offers. The room rate fits your budget.

			2,238 reviews
Room Type	Today's Price	Your Choices	Select Rooms
Standard Room 1 full bed	\$189	 ✓ Surprise rebate upon check-in ✓ Pay Now ✓ Non-refundable cancellation 	I'll reserve
	\$189	 ✓ Surprise upgrade upon check-in ✓ Pay Now ✓ Non-refundable cancellation 	l'll reserve
	\$189	✓ Pay Later✓ Free cancellation	l'il reserve

Excellent 0.0

Hotel NYC ***

<Distant future Condition>

Imagine you are planning a solo leisure trip to New York City and need to reserve a hotel room. Your trip would be <u>in six months</u>. You search online and find Hotel NYC has the exact features you are looking for (see the information below). You notice that for the same rate this hotel has three different offers. The room rate fits your budget.

			2,238 reviews
Room Type	Today's Price	Your Choices	Select Rooms
Standard Room 1 full bed	\$189	 ✓ Surprise rebate upon check-in ✓ Pay Now ✓ Non-refundable cancellation 	I'll reserve
	\$189	 ✓ Surprise upgrade upon check-in ✓ Pay Now ✓ Non-refundable cancellation 	l'll reserve
	\$189	✓ Pay Later✓ Free cancellation	l'il reserve

Excellent 0.0

Hotel NYC ***

Please answer the following questions after carefully considering all of the facts outlined in this scenario.

Q1. Based on the scenario, your stay would occur _____,

- A) One week from now.
- B) Six months from now.
- C) I do not remember.

Q2. Finally, you have decided to choose this hotel. What option would you choose?

A) Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade

B) Pay Now with Surprise Rebate

C) Pay Later

Q3. Below is a list of statements regarding the '<u>Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade</u>' option. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement.

		Strongly disagree	Strongly agree
1.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option would be an	1 2 3 4	567
	inappropriate way to spend money.		
2.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option, I would be	1 2 3 4	567
	concerned that the financial investment would not be wise.		
3.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option, I would be	1 2 3 4	567
	concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.		
4.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option would not provide	1 2 3 4	567
	value for the money I spent.		
5.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option	1 2 3 4	567
	makes me feel uncomfortable.		
6.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option	1 2 3 4	567
	gives me a feeling of anxiety.		
7.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option	1 2 3 4	567
	causes me to experience tension.		
8.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option could lead to an	1 2 3 4	567
	inefficient use of my time.		
9.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Upgrade' option would take too	1 2 3 4	567
	much time / be a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds.		

Q4. Below is a list of statements regarding the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate'

		Strongly disagree	Strongly agree
1.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option would be an	1 2 3 4	567
	inappropriate way to spend money.		
2.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option, I would be	1 2 3 4	567
	concerned that the financial investment would not be wise.		
3.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option, I would be	1 2 3 4	567
	concerned that I would not get my money's worth from the booking.		
4.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option would not provide	1 2 3 4	567
	value for the money I spent.		
5.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option	1 2 3 4	567
	makes me feel uncomfortable.		
6.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option gives	1 2 3 4	567
	me a feeling of anxiety.		
7.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option	1 2 3 4	567
	causes me to experience tension.		
8.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option could lead to an	1 2 3 4	567
	inefficient use of my time.		
9.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Now with Surprise Rebate' option would take too	1 2 3 4	567
	much time / be a waste of time due to adjustments or refunds.		

option. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement.

Q5. Below is a list of statements regarding the '<u>Pay Later</u>' option. Please indicate how much you agree or disagree with each statement.

		Strongly disagree	Strongly agree
1.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option would be an inappropriate way to spend	1 2 3 4	567
	money.		
2.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option, I would be concerned that the financial	1 2 3 4	567
	investment would not be wise.		
3.	If I booked the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option, I would be concerned that I would not	1 2 3 4	567
	get my money's worth from the booking.		
4.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option would not provide value for the money I	1 2 3 4	567
	spent.		
5.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option makes me feel	1 2 3 4	567
	uncomfortable.		
6.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option gives me a feeling of	1 2 3 4	567
	anxiety.		
7.	The thought of booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option causes me to experience	1 2 3 4	567
	tension.		
8.	Booking the hotel with the 'Pay Later' option could lead to an inefficient use of my time.	1 2 3 4	567

1. What is your gender?

- A) Male
- B) Female
- C) Other (specify):

2. How old are you?

_____ years

3. What is your combined annual household income?

- H) \$19,999 or less
- I) \$20,000 \$39,999
- J) \$40,000 \$79,999
- K) \$80,000 \$119,999
- L) \$120,000 \$159,999
- M) \$160,000 \$199,999
- N) \$200,000 and over

4. What is your highest level of education?

- F) High School
- G) Associate's Degree
- H) Bachelor's Degree
- I) Graduate Degree
- J) Other Education:

5. How many times have you stayed at hotels for leisure purposes in the last twelve months?

- A) None
- B) 1-2 times
- C) 3-4 times

D) 5-6 times

D) More than 6 times

6. How many times have you made online hotel reservations in the last twelve months?

- A) None
- B) 1-2 times
- C) 3-4 times
- D) 5-6 times
- D) More than 6 times

APPENDIX C

Institutional Review Board (IRB) Approval



Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board

Application Number:	HS-19-20							
Proposal Title:	The effects of temporal distance on booking behaviors							
Principal Investigator:	Isaac Jang							
Co-Investigator(s):								
Faculty Adviser:	Li Miao							
Project Coordinator:								
Research Assistant(s):								
Status Recommended by Reviewer(s): Approved								
Study Review Level:	Exempt							
Modification Approval Date:	03/24/2020							

The modification of the IRB application referenced above has been approved. It is the judgment of the reviewers that the rights and welfare of individuals who may be asked to participate in this study will be respected, and that the research will be conducted in a manner consistent with the IRB requirements as outlined in section 45 CFR 46. The original expiration date of the protocol has not changed.

Modifications Approved:

Modifications Approved: Change title from "Book Now, Pay Later (Pilot Study)" to "The effects of temporal distance on booking behaviors" and add rounds 2 and 3

The final versions of any recruitment, consent and assent documents bearing the IRB approval stamp are available for download from IRBManager. These are the versions that must be used during the study.

As Principal Investigator, it is your responsibility to do the following:

- 1. Conduct this study exactly as it has been approved.
- 2. Submit a status report to the IRB when requested
- 3. Promptly report to the IRB any harm experienced by a participant that is both unanticipated and related per IRB policy.
- 4. Maintain accurate and complete study records for evaluation by the OSU IRB and, if applicable, inspection by regulatory agencies and/or the study sponsor.
- Notify the IRB office when your research project is complete or when you are no longer affiliated with Oklahoma State University.

Sincerely,

Oklahoma State University IRB 223 Scott Hall, Stillwater, OK 74078 Website: <u>https://irb.okstate.edu/</u> Ph: 405-744-3377 | Fax: 405-744-4335| irb@okstate.edu

VITA

YISAK (ISAAC) JANG

Candidate for the Degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Dissertation: BOOK NOW, PAY LATER: AN INVESTIGATION OF DELAYS IN PAYMENTS, TEMPORAL DISTANCE AND INCENTIVE TYPES

Major Field: BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy in Business Administration with a Specialization in Hospitality and Tourism Management at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in December 2020.

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Hospitality Management at Florida International University, Miami, Florida in 2015.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Foodservice Management at Kyung Hee University, Seoul, South Korea in 2010.

Experience:

- Graduate Research Assistant, Edmon Low Library, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, January 2019 – December 2020
- Graduate Teaching Associate, School of Hospitality and Tourism Management, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, August 2016 – May 2020
- Catering Associate, Celebrations Catering, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, May 2018 – August 2018
- Food & Beverage Ambassador, Residence Inn by Marriott, Stillwater, OK, May 2017 August 2017
- Graduate Research Associate, School of Hospitality and Tourism Management, Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, OK, August 2015 – December 2018
- Revenue Management Intern, Standard Management Services Inc., Miami, FL, November 2013 – May 2015
- Graduate Research Assistant, Chaplin School of Hospitality and Tourism Management, Florida International University, Miami, FL, December 2013 – May 2015
- Food Service Industry Analyst / Sales Representative, CJ Freshway Corporation, Seoul, South Korea, December 2009 – July 2012